

College of Law and Management Studies

School of Law

The constitutionality of the concept of demographic representivity, provided for in terms of the Employment Equity Amendment Act 47 of 2013

by

Gideon Tapanya

214581497

A dissertation submitted to the School of Law in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Laws (Labour Studies)

Supervisor: Mr. DH Hulme

February 2015

Declaration

By submitting this dissertation, I declare that the entirety of the work contained therein is my own work, except for instances indicated otherwise, that I am the author thereof, and that the work, in its entirety or in part, has not been previously submitted for the purposes of obtaining an academic qualification.

.....

Gideon Tapanya
University of KwaZulu-Natal
Howard College Campus
January 2015

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I thank God for granting me the opportunity to pursue my studies at the University of KwaZulu-Natal. It is through God's helping hand that I completed my dissertation.

Secondly, I thank my parents, Cathrine Tsigo and Eliot Tapanya for their financial and moral support which kept me going. I could not have been able to pursue my studies in South Africa without their help.

Thirdly, I thank my supervisor, Mr David Haigh Hulme for his guidance and assistance throughout the writing of my dissertation.

Fourthly, I extent my gratitude to Professor Tammy JA Cohen for her assistance and also to Dr Caroline Goodier for giving me an insight regarding scholarly writing.

Lastly, I thank my good friends and well-wishers who contributed towards the enhancement of my dissertation's quality.

Gideon Tapanya
University of KwaZulu-Natal
Howard College Campus
January 2015

List of Acronyms

ACJ Acting Chief Justice

ANC African National Congress

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

BEEA Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act

CC Constitutional Court

CUSA Commercial Workers Union of South Africa

DCS Department of Correctional Services

EEA Employment Equity Act

EEAA Employment Equity Amendment Act

EEP Employment Equity Plan

GG Government Gazette

GN Gazette Number

LC Labour Court

NEDLAC National Economic Development and Labour Council

OBO On Behalf Of

PROC Proclamation

SAPS South African Police Service

SCA Supreme Court of Appeal

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TOPIC	P.	AGE
Declara	ation	i
Ackno	wledgements	ii
List of	Acronyms	iii
CHAP'	TER 1: INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT OF THE RESEARCH	1
1.1	Background	1
1.2	Research problem and literature review	4
1.3	Research questions	6
1.4	Research aim	7
1.5	Research outline	7
1.6	Conclusion	8
CHAP'	TER 2: AFFIRMATIVE ACTION AND UNFAIR DISCRIMINATION	9
2.1	Introduction	9
2.2	Section 9(1) of the Constitution	9
2.3	The constitutional standard of affirmative action measures	10
2.3	The measure must target historically disadvantaged people	12
2.3	The measure must protect or advance a historically disadvantaged class	13
2.3	The measure must promote the achievement of equality	14
2.4	Factors for determining instances of unfair discrimination	16
2.4	4.1 The position of the complainants	16
2.4	The nature of the provision and the purpose sought to be achieved	17
2.4	The extent to which rights or interest of the complainants have been impaired.	18
2.5	The shortcomings of Solidarity obo Barnard (CC)	19
2.6	Conclusion	23
CHAP'	TER 3: PROVISIONS FOR REPRESENTIVITY IN THE CONSTITUTION	24
3.1	Introduction	24
3.2	Section 174(2) of the Constitution	24
3.2	2.1 Numerical goals or quotas in section 174 of the Constitution?	25

3.3	Sec	tion 195(1)(i) of the Constitution	27
3.3	3.1	Ability	28
3.3	3.2	Objectivity	29
3.3	3.3	Fairness	30
3.3	3.4	The need to redress imbalances of the past	31
3.4	Sec	tion 193(2) of the Constitution	32
3.5	Sec	tion 205(2) of the Constitution	33
		the above-mentioned provisions be read to create an exception to section 9(2	
		titution?	
3.7	Col	nclusion	34
СНАРТ	ΓER Δ	1: THE EMPLOYMENT EQUITY ACT 55 OF 1998	35
4.1		oduction	
4.2		EEA provisions for representivity	
4.2		Section 2 of the EEA	
4.2.2		Section 15 of the EEA	37
4.2	2.3	Section 42 of the EEA	38
4.3	The	e legal and practical effects of the EEAs provisions for representivity	39
4.3	3.1	Imposition of racial quotas	40
4.3	3.2	Abrogation of the merit principle	43
4.3	3.3	Exclusion of minority groups	44
4.3	3.4	Inherent requirement of the job defence	46
4.4	Coı	nclusion	48
СНАРТ	ΓER :	5: THE EMPLOYMENT EQUITY AMENDMENT ACT 47 OF 2013	49
5.1	Intr	oduction	49
5.2	The	thinking and motivation of the EEAA's drafters	49
5.3	The	EEAA's provisions for representivity	50
5.3	3.1	Section 7 of the EEAA	50
5.3.2		Section 16 of the EEAA	51
5.4	Pra	ctical effects of the EEAA's provisions for representivity	52
5.4	l.1	Uncertainty	52
5.4	1.2	The needs of business	53

5.4.3 Exclusion of minority groups from affirmative action benefits	54
5.5 Conclusion	55
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS	56
6.1 Conclusions	57
BIBLIOGRAPHY	58
Text books	58
Journal articles	58
Table of statutes	59
Bills	59
Table of cases	59
Newspaper Reports	60
Speeches	61
Internet Sources	61

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT OF THE RESEARCH

1.1 Background

The South African Constitution¹ places a high importance on 'equality'. Section 8 of the Constitution affirms this by providing that the Bill of Rights applies to all law and binds all organs of the state.² 'Equality' is the general principle established in section 9(1) of the Constitution to combat the continuance of apartheid inequalities, which caused the majority of black South African people, whether African, Indian, or Coloured, to suffer disparities in wealth and privilege and also divisions in employment. Section 9(1) of the Constitution entitles people to the equal treatment, protection, and benefit of the law.³ To resolve the aforementioned disparities, section 9(2) of the Constitution allows for legislative and other measures designed to advance historically disadvantaged people. What the latter section does not suggest is that the measures contemplated may advance some people while they diminish other people, thus inevitably coming into conflict with section 9(1) of the Constitution. Section 9(3) and 9(4) of the Constitution prohibits the state and private persons from unfairly discriminating against anyone.⁴ Combating unfair discrimination is the state's prerogative through national legislation.⁵ However, discrimination may be permitted in some instances.⁶

It is generally held that affirmative action is one instance in which such discrimination is permitted.⁷ Affirmative action is a policy that promotes suitably qualified people from historically disadvantaged groups in order to afford them equal opportunities. In the context of South African Employment Legislation, however, affirmative action is taken a step further in that it is also required to ensure that historically disadvantaged groups are equitably represented in all units and levels of employment.⁸ In other words, there is a requirement for substantive 'equality' comprising 'equitable representation' to result from the affirmative action procedure.⁹

¹ Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 108 of 1996(hereinafter referred to as the Constitution).

² Section 8(1) of the Constitution.

³ See section 2.2 in Chapter 2.

⁴ Section 9 of the Constitution will be dealt with in more detail in Chapter 2 below.

⁵ Section 9(4) of the Constitution.

⁶ Section 9(5) of the Constitution.

⁷ Munsamy v Minister of Safety and Security (2013) 7 BLLR 695 (LC) para 18.

⁸ Section 15(1) of the EEA.

⁹ M McGregor "Blowing the whistle?: the future of affirmative action in South Africa (part 1)" (2014) 6 *SAMLJ* 60, 71.

'Equitable representation' means that the staff composition of a designated employer must consist of all race groups mirrored in the national demographic profile. ¹⁰ Section 15(1) of the Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998 (EEA) in providing for affirmative action measures state the following:

"Affirmative action measures are measures designed to ensure that suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' have equal employment opportunities and are suitably and are equitably represented in all occupational categories and levels in the workplace of a designated employer."

Demographic representivity is such an affirmative action measure. Demographic representivity is a standard that requires all state and private institutions, ¹¹ and organised spheres of people to be broadly reflective of the national population's race profile. ¹² The African National Congress (ANC) government adopted this concept as policy. ¹³ Gwede Mantashe, the ANC Secretary General, commenting on the Employment Equity Amendment Bill, notes that:

"The amendment is meant to give employers flexibility of using either national or provincial demographics as long as they can justify their preference... A national company will be expected to use national demographics and a provincially based company will be expected to use provincial demographics."

Thus, it can be argued that the concept of demographic representivity indirectly introduces quotas in the South African labour market. Furthermore, whether a company is nationally or provincially based, employment always occurs locally as far as employees are concerned. Therefore the result of using national demographics to regulate quotas can result in a situation which is completely distorted to the prejudice of certain race groups who are not evenly represented throughout the country. For example, the current percentage of Coloureds in the Western Cape is 52.4%, but their job quota would be only 10.6% according to the mechanism, even in the Western Cape where they are in the majority. Similarly, in KwaZulu-Natal, where the current percentage of Indians is 10.6%, their job quota would be only 3.1%.

¹⁰ K Malan "Observations on representivity, democracy and homogenisation" (2010) 3 TSAR 427, 430.

¹¹ Demographic representivity is also applicable to designated employers in the private sector.

¹² Malan (note 10 above) 427.

¹³ ANC "Affirmative Action and the New Constitution" (1994) 1, available at *http://www.anc.org.za/show.php?id*=283, accessed on 03 February 2015.

¹⁴ Statistics South Africa *Quarterly Labour Force Survey* 3 (2014), quoted on page xiv of the 14th Commission for Employment Equity Annual Report 2013 – 2014.

¹⁵ Ibid.

Whilst affirmative action is itself constitutional, it is less clear that the concept of demographic representivity envisaged by the EEA passes constitutional muster. It should be noted that there are problems of unfairness and therefore unfair discrimination in regard to any system requiring quotas, which will be dealt with in detail below. Indeed, the EEA expressly prohibits the use of quotas in the workplace, the workplace, the use of quotas in the workplace, the workplace, the provides for numerical goals to be put in place, a concept difficult to distinguish from quotas. This potential contradiction notwithstanding, affirmative action with the inclusion of provision for demographic representivity as provided for in the EEA has been characterised by the courts as valuable. However, before its recent amendment, section 42 of the EEA contained compliance factors which ameliorated the potentially unfair effect of demographic representivity requirements, which probably accounts for its acceptance by the courts. In particular, when hiring or promoting employees to ensure the 'equitable representation' of suitably qualified job aspirants from 'designated groups' section 42 required designated employers to adopt numerical targets that were flexible in application, with the consideration of a pool of factors. Amendments to the EEA were expected to provide a better solution concerning the provision of affirmative action benefits.

However, the recently promulgated Employment Equity Amendment Act of 2013²³ (EEAA) having substituted the above-mentioned section 42 assessment factors, sanctions the use of a type of demographic representivity which employs rigid population percentages to apportion job quotas per race group.²⁴ Thus, the EEAA threatens to create unfair discrimination within the South African labour market by enforcing the concept of demographic representivity with little

-

¹⁶ See 4.3 in Chapter 4; 5.3 in Chapter 5.

¹⁷ See Section 15(3) of the EEA.

¹⁸ Minister of Finance and Another v Van Heerden 2004 (6) SA 121 (CC) para 102.

¹⁹ See 4.2.3 in Chapter 4.

²⁰ Section 1 of the EEA defines a designated employer as "an employer who employs 50 or more employees; an employer who employs fewer than 50 employees, but has a total annual turnover that is equal to or above the applicable annual turnover of a small business in terms of Schedule 4 to this Act; a municipality, as referred to in Chapter 7 of the Constitution; an organ of state as defined in section 239 of the Constitution, but excluding local spheres of government, the National Defence Force, the National Intelligence Agency and the South African Secret Service; and an employer bound by a collective agreement in terms of section 23 or 31 of the Labour Relations Act, which appoints it as a designated employer in terms of this Act, to the extent provided for in the agreement [emphasis added]."

²¹ Section 1 of the EEA defined 'designated groups' as "black people, women and people with disabilities" before it was amended by the Employment Equity Amendment Act 47 of 2013.

²² See item 2 of the Memorandum on the Objects of the Employment Equity Amendment Bill 2012.

²³ Act 47 of 2013.

²⁴ AM Louw "Extrapolating 'equality' from the Letter of the Law: Some Thoughts on the Limits of Affirmative Action under the Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998" (2006) 18 *SAMLJ* 336, 337.

or no flexibility. In particular, section 16 of the EEAA, in providing for a mechanism for assessing the compliance of designated employers with employment equity obligations, allows employers to select either national or regional race population percentages, although the application of regional population percentages will almost always be the fairest approach to adopt. This applies to the public or private sector.²⁵ It will be argued that the requirement of section 16 of the EEAA to consider race population percentages in relation to the composition of the workforce indirectly imposes the impermissible quota system.²⁶ Therefore the concept of demographic representivity which section 16 of the EEAA provides for may be unconstitutional.

1.2 Research problem and literature review

The EEA expressly prohibited quotas.²⁷ However, much affirmative action legislation, as well as the practical application of affirmative action, has been based on the concept of 'demographic representivity'.²⁸ In respect of employment in the public sector, demographic representivity has been used as a method of transformation, however this practice has been challenged in the case of *Solidarity obo Barnard v South African Police Service*.²⁹ Notwithstanding this challenge, the concept of demographic representivity is specifically provided for in terms of section 16 by the EEAA that provides that both national and the regional economically active population profiles may be considered when determining the extent to which various race groups are represented in the labour market.³⁰ The effect of section 16 of the EEAA is to render section 42 of the EEA of 1998 obsolete and to substitute it with a new standard of compliance factors that imposes a rigid type of demographic representivity.

The question arises whether demographic representivity as an affirmative action policy is constitutional, given the fundamental commitment of section 9 of the South African Constitution. Furthermore, the concept of demographic representivity raises questions of fairness and practicality.³¹

²⁵ See section 16 of the EEEAA.

²⁶ See section 5.3.3 in Chapter 5.

²⁷ Note 17 above.

²⁸ Malan (note 10 above) 428.

²⁹ 2014 (2) SA 1 (SCA) para 81.

³⁰ See section 5.2.2 in Chapter 5.

³¹ Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden (note 18 above) para 39.

Equating representivity to 'equality' is held as an objective means of achieving 'equality' in the South African labour market.³² Malan, commenting on the use of the concept of representivity in both the EEA and the Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Act³³ as a method of transformation, observes that representivity and 'equality' can be seen to have become two equals. He notes in this regard that representivity should in fact rather be a prerequisite for the achievement of 'equality'.³⁴ Malan's view complements that of Van der Westhuizen J in *Stoman v Minister of Safety and Security*³⁵ that "efficiency and representivity, or 'equality', should, however not be viewed as separate competing or even opposing arms." Adopting a contrasting view, Louw considering transformation in the South African sports field, noted that representivity has superseded 'equality'. Despite these differing views, both Louw and Malan's observations point to the fact that representivity has become the new strategy of achieving 'equality'.

Whether representivity can practically be equated to 'equality' in the South African labour market is a question that still needs to be answered.³⁷ Equating representivity to 'equality' however negates the entitlement to fairness because the standard of 'equality' introduced requires the application of substantive 'equality', a notion that focusses only on advancing historically disadvantaged people. Giving rise to substantive 'equality', affirmative action, through the mechanisation of the concept of demographic representivity create new patterns of disadvantage by excluding other historically disadvantaged groups while benefitting mostly Africans, who are a majority in South Africa.³⁸ Representivity also creates impediments for the appointment of white people in contravention of section 9(2) of the Constitution that requires measures to be adopted that are designed to promote the achievement of 'equality'.³⁹ Venter⁴⁰ asserts that the concept of demographic representivity inevitably comes into conflict with the

³² Malan (note 10 above) 446.

³³ Act 53 of 2003.

³⁴ Malan (note 10 above) 446.

³⁵ (2002) 23 ILJ 1020 (T) para 482.

³⁶ AM Louw "Should the playing field be levelled? Revisiting affirmative action in professional sport" 2004 *Stellenbosch LR* 409, 419.

³⁷ See section 4.3 in Chapter 4.

³⁸ Malan (note 10 above) 447.

³⁹ See section 9(2) of the Constitution.

⁴⁰ F Venter "The limitations of restitutionary equality" (2004) 7 PELJ 1.

constitutional value of 'equality'. Thus, demographic representivity, a mechanism of affirmative action cannot be sustained if it runs counter to the value of 'equality'.

An ideal model of an affirmative action measure would be one that affords all citizens equal opportunities, taking into account various options available.⁴¹ However, the concept of demographic representivity seems to be a reactionary measure targeted at punishing the white minority for apartheid transgressions as opposed to a genuine process of achieving equity. Mildred Oliphant, the Minister of Labour hinted on the motive behind the drafting of the EEAA in her speech to the National Council of Provinces as follows:

"Unfortunately employers have refused or are unwilling to make a leap of faith with regards to transformation. Reports received from employers over the past 15 years clearly show that not much progress has been made. Whites and males, particularly White males, continue to dominate in the middle to upper echelons of organisations, according to the report by the Commission for Employment Equity for 2012 reporting period... It is clear that legislation has not induced any serious transformation in the upper echelons where real decisions are taken. It is also that the patterns as noted above will not lead to any different results any time soon. The current amendments for EE, therefore could not have come at a better time."

It is common cause that the right to 'equality' is subject to limitations.⁴³ However, less restrictive means could be used to safeguard against infringements that would render the whole essence of remedial measures unconstitutional. When the EEA was initially enacted, the legislature disregarded the possibility of affirmative action becoming discriminatory itself.

While Louw⁴⁴ and other scholars⁴⁵ criticise the notion of demographic representivity, much of their emphasis has been on the practicality of demographic representivity in the South African labour market. Their argument may be considered to be lacking a detailed exploration regarding the constitutionality of the concept of demographic representivity in the labour market. Thus, the question remains whether the concept of demographic representivity is a constitutionally acceptable affirmative action practice.

⁴¹ See T Cohen and L Moodley "Achieving Decent Work in South Africa?" (2012) 15 *PER* 320, 325, these options include furthering the education and skills of historically disadvantaged people and increasing the job creation capacity of the government.

⁴² Mildred Oliphant, Speech on the Employment Equity Amendment Bill to the National Council of Provinces, Cape Town, 21 November 2013.

⁴³ Section 36(1) of the Constitution.

⁴⁴ Louw (note 24 above) 338.

⁴⁵ Malan (note 10 above) 447; Venter (note 40 above) 1.

In order to answer this question the following research questions will be addressed in the dissertation.

1.3 Research questions

The research questions that will be answered by the dissertation are as follows:

- 1. To what extent are affirmative action and the mechanism of demographic representivity limited in terms of the Constitution; and in what circumstances does demographic representivity amount to unfair discrimination?
- 2. What provision was made for demographic representivity in the EEA 55 of 1998 and what were the legal and practical effects of this provision?
- 3. What provision is made for demographic representivity in the EEAA 47 of 2013 and what are the legal, constitutional and practical effects of this provision?

1.4 Research aim

The aim of this study is to clarify the scope and limits of the concept of demographic representivity in the South African labour market. To the ANC and the Legislature, demographic representivity has appeared to be the most realistic method of remedying divisions in employment caused by systematic discrimination against the majority of black South African people, which occurred in the past. However, the concept of demographic representivity has potential negative effects with regard to unfair discrimination in the South African labour market. Despite the prevalence of disputes concerning the application of demographic representivity in the labour market, it has proved difficult to challenge the concept because it is often applied under the guise of implementing the permissible numerical goals. As the recent EEAA⁴⁶ appears to remove safeguards which previously legitimised demographic representivity,⁴⁷ its constitutionality needs to be interrogated. However, the opportunity also arises to investigate whether the concept of demographic representivity negates the right to 'equality' in the labour market *ab initio*.

-

⁴⁶ Note 23 above.

⁴⁷ Note 25 above.

1.5 Research outline

In order to achieve the aim stated above, given the overriding protection afforded by the right to 'equality' in the Constitution, the dissertation will analyse the constitutional acceptability of demographic representivity. This is done in order to establish whether the concept is a permissible affirmative action practice considering the prohibition placed by section 9(3) of the Constitution against race-based discrimination. Also considering that constitutional interpretation is not limited to individual sections in the Constitution, guidance is sought from other provisions in the Constitution that provide for representivity. Thereafter the legal and practical effects of demographic representivity provided for in terms of the EEA are discussed. Moreover, the motivation behind the drafting of the EEAA is established and the legal and practical effects of demographic representivity provided for in terms of that Act⁴⁸ are considered. Having considered the abovementioned aspects, a conclusion will be drawn.

1.6 Conclusion

The achievement of 'equality' is one of the founding values established by section 1 of the Constitution. ⁴⁹ A number of contraventions have been noted that contradict the right to 'equality' entrenched in section 9 of the Constitution. Thus, the following chapter will provide a critical analysis of demographic representivity in relation to section 9 of the Constitution and the constitutional founding values created by Chapter 1 of the Constitution being human dignity, the achievement of 'equality', and the advancement of human rights and freedoms, non-racialism and non-sexism. ⁵⁰

⁴⁸ Note 23 above.

⁴⁹ Section 1(a) of the Constitution.

⁵⁰ Section 1 of the Constitution.

CHAPTER 2: AFFIRMATIVE ACTION AND UNFAIR DISCRIMINATION

2.1 Introduction

Because of the history of South Africa with its racial divisions, 'equality' is of paramount importance. The principle of 'equality' provides that people who are in the same position must be treated alike.⁵¹ Moreover, the achievement of equality is one of the core values of the Constitution.⁵² These founding values are the underlying principles that govern the interpretation of all obligations created by the Constitution. The achievement of 'equality' is one such obligation created by section 9 of the Constitution.⁵³ Despite this, the Constitutional Court (CC) jurisprudence seems to have taken a course that isolates affirmative action from the general 'equality' guarantee and the rest of the Constitution.⁵⁴ This approach appears to infringe on constitutional values and affects the ability of the lower courts to resolve affirmative action disputes rationally and fairly.⁵⁵ Affirmative action derives from substantive 'equality', a notion that recognises group disadvantage and determines the allocation of employment opportunities based on the social and historical backgrounds of people or groups of people.⁵⁶ Affirmative action measures are designed to give effect to substantive 'equality'.

The concept of demographic representivity, a widespread mechanism of affirmative action is one such affirmative action measure. What needs to be established is whether the concept of demographic representivity is a permissible affirmative action measure constitutionally.

2.2 Section 9(1) of the Constitution

Formal 'equality' is the general notion provided in section 9(1) of the Constitution and it requires that people who are similarly placed be treated alike.⁵⁷ Section 9 of the Constitution reads as follows:

⁵¹ S Fredman Discrimination Law (2001) 16.

⁵² Note 49 above.

⁵³ Section 9(1) of the Constitution.

⁵⁴ JL Pretorius "Fairness in transformation: A critique of the Constitutional Court's affirmative action jurisprudence" (2010) 26 *SAJHR* 536.

⁵⁵ Ibid.

⁵⁶ McGregor (note 9 above) 71.

⁵⁷ I Currie & J De Waal *The Bill of Rights Handbook* 6 ed (2013) 223.

(1) Everyone is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and benefit of the law.⁵⁸

Section 9(1) of the Constitution provides that every person is entitled to equal treatment regardless of their attributes and characteristics.⁵⁹ Accordingly, any differential treatment of people for the purposes of section 9(1) would usually amount to unfair discrimination in terms of section 9(3) of the Constitution.⁶⁰ The Constitution affirms human dignity, the achievement of 'equality', and the advancement of human rights and freedoms, in a non-racialist and non-sexist society as underlying values on which the South African society is found.⁶¹ These underlying principles must govern the interpretation of rights created by the Constitution.⁶² However, an 'equality' ideology that is purely based on formal 'equality' has been considered problematic for the South African society which still bears the scars of apartheid. From these perceived shortcomings of the notion of formal 'equality', the notion of substantive 'equality' was born.⁶³ The notion of substantive 'equality' considers the social and historical status of people or groups of people in order to determine whether the constitutional obligation to achieve 'equality' is being fulfilled.⁶⁴ However, substantive 'equality' is not an exception to the right to 'equality' and affirmative action measures that are adopted in order to achieve substantive 'equality' must comply with section 9 of the Constitution as a whole.⁶⁵

2.3 The constitutional standard of affirmative action measures

Section 9(2) of the Constitution provides as follows:

"Equality includes the full and equal enjoyment of all rights and freedoms. To promote the achievement of 'equality', legislative and other measures designed to protect or advance persons or categories of persons, disadvantaged by unfair discrimination may be taken [my own emphasis]."

⁵⁸ Note 53 above.

⁵⁹ Currie & De Waal (note 57 above) 213.

⁶⁰ Ibid 222.

⁶¹ Note 50 above.

⁶² Currie & De Waal (note 57 above) 211.

⁶³ McGregor (note 9 above) 70.

⁶⁴ M McGregor "Judicial notice: Discrimination and disadvantage in the context of affirmative action in South African workplaces" (2011) 1 De Jure 111, 113.

⁶⁵ Bato Star Fishing (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs & others 2004 (4) SA 490 (CC) para 74.

The first part of section 9(2) of the Constitution requires that affirmative action measures must uplift the promotion of 'equality' by guaranteeing every person the enjoyment of all rights and freedoms that are bestowed on them by the 'equality' protection under section 9(1) of the Constitution. Thus, the legislature in enacting any legislation that is directed at protecting and advancing people who were susceptible to past discrimination, should ensure that such measures do not impugn the rights of those excluded from their benefit.⁶⁶

The second part of section 9(2) provides a limited exception to the general principle set by the first part of section 9(2), that 'equality' must "include the full and equal enjoyment of all rights and freedoms." Thus the affirmative action provision provided in the second part of section 9(2) of the Constitution is not an end in itself and should be interpreted in a restricted manner subject to the first part.⁶⁷ The concept of demographic representivity is one such mechanism of affirmative action utilised by the EEA to advance people who were susceptible to past discrimination which may give rise to further inequalities. Thus, the constitutionality of the concept has to be tested. A threefold enquiry was formulated in *Minister of Finance and Another v Van Heerden*⁶⁸ for the purpose of testing the legitimacy of affirmative action measures under section 9(2) of the Constitution. The three enquiries that must be satisfied are:

- whether the measure targets persons or categories of persons who have been disadvantaged by unfair discrimination.
- whether the measure is designed to protect or advance such persons or categories of persons.
- whether the measure promotes the achievement of 'equality'. 69

In *Van Heerden*,⁷⁰ Moseneke J stated that remedial measures that pass the internal test of section 9(2) cannot be presumed unfair, even though they may differentiate between people based on grounds listed in section 9(3) of the Constitution. Section 9(3) of the Constitution reads as follows:

"The state may not unfairly discriminate directly or indirectly against anyone on one or more grounds, including race, gender, sex, pregnancy, marital status, ethnic or social origin, colour, sexual orientation, age, disability, religion, conscience, belief, culture, language and birth."

⁶⁶ Currie & De Waal (note 57 above) 241.

⁶⁷ Ibid

⁶⁸ 2004 (6) SA 121 (CC) para 37.

⁶⁹ *Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden* (note 18 above) para 37.

⁷⁰ Note 68 above, para 25.

The weakness of the *Van Heerden* 'rationality test' is that it legitimises a measure for merely passing its low threshold test even though that measure can disproportionately impact on those excluded from its benefits. However, Moseneke J's assertion above points to the fact that those measures that are aimed at advancing the previously disadvantaged people but fail to pass the section 9(2) internal test can be presumed to be unfair in terms of section 9(5) of the Constitution read together with section 9(3).⁷¹ Each of the three stages of the *Van Heerden* enquiry are discussed in turn below to establish the legality of the concept of demographic representivity.

2.3.1 The measure must target historically disadvantaged people

The first requirement of the *Van Heerden* 'stages of enquiry' is that affirmative action measures must target historically disadvantaged people as their beneficiaries. Thus, the envisaged measures must have the object of preferring groups of people previously disadvantaged by unfair discrimination.⁷² The EEA adopted 'equitable representation' as a means of achieving substantive 'equality', and to that effect utilises the concept of demographic representivity to reach this objective. The EEA's aim is set out clearly in section 2 as achieving employment equity by:

- a) promoting equal opportunity and fair treatment in employment through the elimination of unfair discrimination; and
- b) implementing affirmative action measures to redress the disadvantages in employment experienced by 'designated groups', in order to ensure their 'equitable representation' in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce.

Section 15 of the EEA also provides that:

(1) Affirmative action measures are measures designed to ensure that suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' have equal employment opportunities and are equitably represented in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce of a designated employer.⁷³

The above-mentioned provisions makes the concept of demographic representivity comply with the first leg of the *Van Heerden* rationality test. This is because the concept targets groups of people which were susceptible to past unfair discrimination, namely, black people,⁷⁴ women and

⁷¹ *Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden* (note 18 above) para 24.

⁷² Ibid para 38.

⁷³ Note 8 above.

⁷⁴ The term black people in terms of section 1 of the EEA include African, Coloured and Indian people.

disabled people.⁷⁵ In *Chinese Association of South Africa v The Minister of Labour*,⁷⁶ South African Chinese people were also declared to be black people for the purposes of section 1 of both the EEA and the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003 (BEEA). This is because people of Chinese descent were classified as Coloureds during the apartheid era and to that effect fit within the definition of black people in terms of both the abovementioned Acts.⁷⁷

2.3.2 The measure must protect or advance a historically disadvantaged class

The second requirement of *Van Heerden*⁷⁸ is that an affirmative action measure must be designed to protect or advance classes of people previously disadvantaged by unfair discrimination. Thus, remedial measures should be capable of reasonably attaining a desired future goal.⁷⁹ The only kind of disadvantage that should be considered in order for a person to be advanced under affirmative action measures is their history of past discrimination. It is not adequate for an affirmative action measure to merely target historically disadvantaged people. The second leg of the *Van Heerden* test must complement the first leg by fulfilling the requirement to empower historically disadvantaged people. In *Public Servants Association of South Africa and Others v Minister of Justice and Others*, ⁸⁰ Swart J held that:

"The measures must be designed to achieve something. This denotes . . . a causal connection between the designed measures and the objectives [emphasis added]."

A rational connection must exist between an affirmative action measure and the purpose it seeks to achieve in order for that measure to be deemed legitimate for the purpose of section 9(2) of the Constitution.⁸¹ However, this requirement of a rational connection raises a question whether belonging to a group that suffered past disadvantage should automatically entitle a person to benefit under affirmative action measures. Logic dictates that an enquiry into individual disadvantage of people from historically disadvantaged groups is necessary before they can be

⁷⁵ Section 1 of the EEA.

⁷⁶ (NDP) unreported case number 59251/2007 (18 June 2008) para 1.

⁷⁷ Lloyd Ramutloa "RE: Chinese Association of South Africa" Department of Labour 24 June 2008, available at http://www.labour.gov.za/DOL/media-desk/media-statements/2008/re-chinese-association-of-south-africa, accessed on 5 March 2015.

⁷⁸ Note 68 above, para 41.

⁷⁹ *Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden* (note 18 above) para 41.

⁸⁰ 1997 (3) SA 925 (T) para 989A-B.

⁸¹ Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden (note 18 above) para 42.

entitled to benefit under any affirmative action measures. Otherwise the failure to conduct such an enquiry can disadvantage those excluded by the measure. The facts of the case of *Solidarity obo Barnard*⁸² provides an example of such issues. In this matter Barnard, a suitably qualified white female police officer, was denied a promotion based on representivity, the post being reserved for Africans.⁸³ Nevertheless, it is difficult to understand how Africans who had the privilege to reach the same rank as hers were classified as disadvantaged, and this shows practical problems associated with the use of past disadvantage as a criteria for people who are now advantaged. Moseneke ACJ held that the National Commissioner practiced his discretion rationally by not appointing Barnard, citing that such conduct was in line with the dictates of section 6(2) of the EEA to advance employment equity goals.⁸⁴ The first two stages of the *Van Heerden* enquiry do not include a fairness test and the risk arises that an irrational and arbitrary measure can be capable of reaching its intended goals.

Clearly the EEA's concept of demographic representivity fulfils the second leg of the *Van Heerden* test. Support for this is to be found in section 15(3) of the EEA which reads as follows:

"The measures 85 referred to in subsection (2)(d) include preferential treatment and numerical goals, but exclude quotas."

To advance and promote groups of people that were susceptible to past unfair discrimination, preferential treatment of those groups and the use of numerical goals that are directed at increasing the representation of people from those groups is permitted.⁸⁶ Numerical goals are set in an employment equity plan that is prepared after an analysis to determine the extent to which 'designated groups' are underrepresented in all levels of the workforce.⁸⁷ Representivity based on demographics informs the workforce analysis.⁸⁸

^{82 2014 (6)} SA 123 (CC).

⁸³ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard 2014 (6) SA 123 (CC). para 201.

⁸⁴ Ibid para 69.

⁸⁵ Affirmative action measures.

⁸⁶ Section 15(3) of the EEA.

⁸⁷ Section 19(2) of the EEA.

⁸⁸ See section 16 of the EEA.

2.3.3 The measure must promote the achievement of 'equality'

The third requirement in the *Van Heerden*⁸⁹ test is that affirmative action measures must promote the achievement of 'equality', positive action being necessary for the redress of past inequalities. Thus, the perspective of a diverse society needs to be taken into account in executing remedial measures.⁹⁰ There must be some degree of proportionality and fairness involved. Proportionality requires striking a balance between two equally important considerations, and that is, the decision to withhold a benefit from some people and the severity of such action.⁹¹ On the other hand rationality requires reasonableness when making decisions that may unfairly impact on those excluded by remedial measures.

The concept of demographic representivity in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA does not promote the achievement of 'equality', the concept is an unfair mechanism which achieves directly the opposite of 'equality'. Section 16 of the EEAA reads as follows:

- 42. (1) In determining whether a designated employer is implementing employment equity in compliance with this Act, the Director-General or any person or body applying this Act may, in addition to the factors stated in section 15, take the following into account:
- (a) The extent to which suitably qualified people from and amongst the different 'designated groups' are equitably represented within each occupational level in that employer's workforce in relation to the-demographic profile of the national and regional economically active population.

The concept of demographic representivity requires the workforce of any designated employer to reflect the relative population of the national or regional profiles, and this is what is purported to be the achievement of 'equality'. Rationality requires that if demographic representivity is to be regarded as a proxy of 'equality', 92 a reasonable link must exist between the two concepts. There is no link whatsoever between the concept of demographic representivity and 'equality'. Demographic representivity only boosts representation of 'designated groups' in the workforce.

The failings of the concept of demographic representivity are that it is irrational and arbitrary as shown by the unrealistic figures (also known as the 'numbers game') that were at play in *Naidoo v Minister of Safety and Security*. In this matter⁹³ an Indian female police officer was denied a

⁸⁹ Note 68 above, para 44.

⁹⁰ Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden (note 18 above) para 44.

⁹¹ Harksen v Lane NO and Others 1998 (1) SA 300 (CC) para 52.

⁹² Louw (note 36 above) 409, 419.

⁹³ Naidoo v Minister of Safety and Security and Another 2013 (3) SA 486 (LC) para 6.

promotion on the basis that there were no vacancies available for Indians because of the group's low percentage of 2.5% in the national population profile. Naidoo's promotion was not approved by the national panel despite having the second best score out of all the candidates who were interviewed for the promotion. The reasons cited by the national panel were that Naidoo's appointment would not address representivity as well as the organisations service delivery standards. However, after resolving that Naidoo was unfairly discriminated by a quota driven employment equity plan (EEP), only informed by national demographics, the court ordered the SAPS to appoint her. 95

If a measure fails to pass the section 9(2) internal test, the dictates of the principle of rule of law requires an unfair discrimination enquiry in terms of the *Harksen v Lane*⁹⁶ fairness test to be conducted. The following section discusses how demographic representivity can lead to unfair discrimination.

2.4 Factors for determining instances of unfair discrimination

Unfair discrimination is described as differentiating between people based on illegitimate grounds that are listed in section 9(3) of the Constitution.⁹⁷ The prohibition against unfair discrimination also applies to grounds that are analogous to those listed in section 9(3).⁹⁸ Any applicant who claims to have been unfairly disadvantaged based on an analogous ground should prove that the use of such attributes and characteristics not listed in section 9(3) of the Constitution unfairly impacts on their dignity as human beings. The determination whether a complainant has been unfairly discriminated depends on factors that were formulated in *Harksen*⁹⁹ which are as follows:

- the position of the complainants in society and whether they have suffered in the past from patterns of disadvantage, whether the discrimination in the case under consideration is on a specified ground or not;
- the nature of the provision or power and the purpose sought to be achieved by it;

⁹⁵ Ibid para 232.

⁹⁴ Ibid para 6.

⁹⁶ 1998 (1) SA 300 (CC) para 51.

⁹⁷ Currie & De Waal (note 57 above) 222.

⁹⁸ Ibid 236.

⁹⁹ Note 96 above.

• the extent to which the discrimination has affected the rights or interests of complainants and whether it has led to an impairment of their fundamental human dignity or constitutes an impairment of a comparably serious nature.

These are discussed below in interrogating whether the concept of demographic representivity in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA unfairly impacts on people from non-designated groups as well as other minority groups that are often excluded from affirmative action benefits.

2.4.1 The position of the complainants

The position of the complainant in society is one of the influential factors in determining whether a measure has an unfair impact on the victim. The criterion used to determine affirmative action beneficiaries in the Constitution is past disadvantage caused by unfair discrimination. This criterion in section 9(2) of the Constitution has been abandoned in both the EEA and the EEAA which use race, sex and disability as their only criterion to determine beneficiaries of affirmative action. *Naidoo* is one such decision in which people from minority groups were denied promotions based on demographic representivity, a ground which is analogous to grounds of sex and race which are prohibited in section 9(3) of the Constitution. The concept of demographic representivity which is a mechanism empowered by both the EEA and the EEAA makes use of degrees of disadvantage which often results in African people, who are a majority in the national population profile always benefiting the most.

Minority groups have been disadvantaged and continue to be disadvantaged under both the EEA and the EEAA. In the context of *Solidarity obo Barnard*, ¹⁰² Barnard in her personal capacity and as a public servant belongs to a class of people who have been deeply affected by the past and present inequalities, namely, women. ¹⁰³ Just as there is a need to eradicate racial discrimination, there is also a need to remedy gender disadvantages. Gender assumptions were recognised by the CC in *President of the Republic of South Africa and Another v Hugo*. ¹⁰⁴ The failure to declare Ms Barnard's exclusion as unfair discrimination based on race and gender shows the CC's changing views influenced by race.

¹⁰⁰ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ See section 9(2) of the Constitution.

¹⁰² Note 82 above

¹⁰³ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 171.

¹⁰⁴ 1997 (6) BCLR 708 (CC) para 109.

2.4.2 The nature of the provision and the purpose sought to be achieved

The concept of demographic representivity realises the principle of social inclusion which is envisioned in the Constitution. The concept seeks to redress the disproportionate representation of various race groups in the South African labour market. However, the concept of demographic representivity in both the EEA and the EEAA is deeply rooted in the idea of 'equitable representation', a term which is alien to section 9 of the Constitution. The requirement for demographic representivity as proof of 'equality' is not referred to in the Constitution, other than in section 174 of the Constitution which requires broad representivity when appointing judges. Section 9(1) of the Constitution provides for 'equality' of opportunities while the concept of demographic representivity seeks 'equality' of outcomes, resulting in punitive and retaliatory measures.

As distinct from Hugo, 109 where the discriminatory conduct was held to serve a legitimate governmental purpose, the concept of demographic representivity fails to do so. By requiring that all designated employers make use of the national and the regionally economically active population profiles in determining employment quotas per each race group, new patterns of disadvantage are created for minority groups being Coloured, Indian and the physically able bodied White people. Thus, the concept of demographic representivity in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA unjustifiably creates degrees of disadvantage that tend to prefer Africans to the exclusion of other racial groups designated as legitimate beneficiaries of affirmative action.

2.4.3 The extent to which rights or interest of the complainants have been impaired

In *S v Makwanyane*,¹¹¹ the right to human dignity was held to be one of the fundamental factors for consideration in determining whether any conduct is denigrating. Human dignity is one of the founding values in the Constitution that guide the interpretation of affirmative action measures.¹¹² Moreover, human dignity is an aspect of the general notion of 'equality' which

¹⁰⁵ See the Preamble of the Constitution.

¹⁰⁶ Malan (note 10 above) 427.

¹⁰⁷ See section 174(2) of the Constitution.

¹⁰⁸ Solidarity obo Barnard v South African Police Service 2014 (2) SA 1 (SCA) para 58.

¹⁰⁹ Note 104 above, para 115.

¹¹⁰ Malan (note 10 above) 428.

¹¹¹ 1995 (3) SA 391 (CC) para 94, 135.

¹¹² Note 50 above.

recognises that all people are equal in dignity, and to that effect that it is unfair discrimination to impugn on a person's dignity. Demographic representivity breaches the right to human dignity. In *Solidarity obo Barnard*, ¹¹³ race was used by the National Commissioner as a determinant factor, thereby outweighing Barnard's gender, experience, and attitude, and to that effect, her value as a person was seriously undermined. The right to 'equality' and dignity are independent rights that complement each other and sometimes the affirmative action aspect of 'equality' comes into conflict with the right to human dignity. ¹¹⁴

The founding values of the Constitution, namely, human dignity, 'equality', non-racialism, and non-sexism, ¹¹⁵ do not permit the exclusion of those disfavoured by section 9(2) of the Constitution. Moreover, the CC's jurisprudence should be influenced by Immanuel Kant's philosophical thinking on human dignity as it emphasises that "human worth is impaired when persons are treated, not as ends in themselves, but as mere objects." ¹¹⁶ Thus, people should not be treated as a means to an end but rather as ends themselves. ¹¹⁷ This means that those disfavoured by section 9(2) of the Constitution should not be denigrated as a means of empowering the targeted groups. Dignity encompasses both individualistic and collective rights. ¹¹⁸ Thus, the concept of demographic representivity is unconstitutional because it distinguishes between people who are inherently equal in dignity thereby impairing their self-worth. ¹¹⁹

The shortcomings of Solidarity obo Barnard¹²⁰ are discussed below.

2.5 The shortcomings of Solidarity obo Barnard (CC)

The Solidarity obo Barnard¹²¹ decision displays the tension that is caused by the implementation of remedial measures in complying with the obligation of affirmative action. Barnard, a white female police officer, was denied a promotion on two occasions despite being the best

¹¹³ Note 82 above, para 177.

¹¹⁴ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 169.

¹¹⁵ Note 50 above.

¹¹⁶ S v Makwanyane and Another 1995 (3) SA 391 (CC) para 26.

¹¹⁷ S v Dodo 2001 (3) SA 382 (CC) para 38.

¹¹⁸ S Cowen "Can 'Dignity' Guide South Africa's Equality Jurisprudence?" (2001) 17 SAJHR 34, 51.

¹¹⁹ Prinsloo v Van der Linde and Another 1997 (3) SA 1012 (CC) para 31.

¹²⁰ Note 82 above.

¹²¹ Ibid.

candidate.¹²² The reasons given by the National Commissioner were that her appointment would not advance representivity and that the post did not compromise service delivery.¹²³ White females were overrepresented at salary level 9.¹²⁴ The majority judgement of the CC, led by Moseneke ACJ, held that the South African Police Service (SAPS) employment equity plan (EEP) is a measure as contemplated in section 9(2) of the Constitution,¹²⁵ refusing however to pronounce on whether the EEP amounted to the implementation of quotas or not. The CC based its decision on the fact that the National Commissioner was empowered by the National Instrument to exercise his discretion as long it was rational.¹²⁶ Thus, the fact that the SAPS EEP did not bar Barnard from future professional advancement, the non-critical role of the post and the National Commissioner's failure to even appoint African candidates in the absence of best suited candidates ameliorated his conduct as pursuing genuine employment equity goals.¹²⁷

The CC's main judgement may have been wrong for several reasons. Firstly, the CC had a misconception that it was not empowered to pronounce on the legality of the SAPS EEP in the absence of an administrative law review claim. Barnard alleged unfair discrimination, which is a different claim from an administrative law review. The EEA prohibits unfair discrimination in terms of section 6(1), and Barnard claimed that the National Commissioner's decision, which was informed by the SAPS EEP, violated this prohibition. Section 6(2) of the EEA provides an affirmative action defence. However, the SAPS can only be exonerated from an unfair discrimination claim if the National Commissioner's decision is compliant with the aim of the EEA. The EEA expressly prohibits quota driven affirmative action measures. Thus, the CC was supposed to interpret the purpose of the EEA and thereafter establish whether the National Commissioner's conduct complied with the Act. The CC's refusal to pronounce on the legality

_

¹²² South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard 2014 (note 83 above) para 201.

¹²³ Ibid para 16.

¹²⁴ Ibid para 66.

¹²⁵ Ibid para 70.

¹²⁶ Ibid para 66.

¹²⁷ Ibid para 65, 70.

¹²⁸ Ibid para 84.

¹²⁹ Ibid para 86.

¹³⁰ Section 6(2)(a) of the EEA provides that "It is not unfair discrimination to take affirmative action measures consistent with the purpose of this Act."

¹³¹ Note 86 above.

¹³² Act 55 of 1998.

of the SAPS EEP was a miscarriage of law. This is despite an earlier pronouncement by the court in *Cusa v Tao Ying Metal Industries and Others*¹³³ that:

"Where a point of law is apparent on the papers, but the common approach of the parties proceeds on a wrong perception of what the law is, a court is not only entitled, but is in fact also obliged, *mero motu*, to raise the point of law and require the parties to deal therewith. Otherwise, the result would be a decision premised on an incorrect application of the law. That would infringe the principle of legality [emphasis added]."

The CC's failure to uphold its earlier decision in *Cusa* shows the court's inconsistency in its application of law. As stated in *Cusa*,¹³⁴ the point of law was that Barnard had not asserted her right to fairness on the basis that the SAPS EEP unfairly impacted on her. She had only claimed unfairness on the part of the National Commissioner's decision not to appoint her. To quote from *The Bill of Rights Handbook*,¹³⁵ Currie and De Waal states the standard set under the rule of law, that rationality is not triggered only by differentiation, and this means that the complainant does not need to raise a claim that legislation or a measure differentiates between people to trigger the test of such legislation or measure. The exercise of public power is required to be rational, thus, the CC was supposed to answer the question whether the SAPS EEP amounted to the implementation of quotas regardless of Barnard's plea. It is difficult to understand how the CC adjudicated the *Barnard* case without evaluating the SAPS EEP against the requirements of the EEA, considering that the National Commissioner's decision was informed by the SAPS EEP.

Secondly, the CC erred when it pronounced that the SAPS EEP did not constitute an absolute bar to the professional advancement of Barnard. Section 15(4) of the EEA¹³⁶ shows that the role of the EEA is not only to advance affirmative action, but also to allow individuals from non-designated groups who are prevented from advancing by affirmative action to challenge affirmative action measures that impose absolute barriers. Barnard alleged that the National Commissioner created an absolute barrier for her professional advancement based on the fact that she is a white person, conduct that section 15(4) of the EEA prohibits.¹³⁷ In refuting Barnard's allegation, the CC reasoned that she had since been promoted to a higher rank than she

¹³³ 2009 (2) SA 204 (CC) para 68.

¹³⁴ Ibid.

¹³⁵ Currie & De Waal (note 57 above) 222.

¹³⁶ Section 15(4) of the EEA provides that, "Subject to section 42, nothing in this section requires a designated employer to take any decision concerning an employment policy or practice that would establish an absolute barrier to the prospective or continued employment or advancement of people who are not from 'designated groups'."

¹³⁷ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 90.

was before.¹³⁸ However, the CC's conclusion was unreasonable because the court chose to ignore an absolute barrier that had been imposed on Barnard with respect of the promotion to salary level 9 and the court justified this anomaly by referring to a promotion that came at a later stage.

Thirdly, the CC erred by commenting on the National Commissioner's claim that the non-appointment of Barnard did not compromise SAPS's provision of service delivery. By virtue of the fact that the post existed within the ranks of the SAPS its functions needed to be performed.¹³⁹ Moreover, the post was advertised on three occasions and this serves to show that the post might have been important for SAPS provision of service delivery.¹⁴⁰ The CC's conclusion that the National Commissioner's decision not to appoint Barnard did not hamper the provision of service delivery encroached on the separation of powers.¹⁴¹ The CC commented on a matter of policy, this amounts to overseeing the executive and that is in breach of the separation of powers. Thus, the CC's main decision in its entirety is tainted by this illegality.

Lastly, the CC's failure to recognise Barnard as a member of a designated group was wrong. The CC chose to restrict the requirements for representivity to only the race imperative. Being a woman, Barnard is a legitimate beneficiary of affirmative action. ¹⁴² The CC chose to be silent on this point. The decision was in direct conflict with section 9(2) of the Constitution that requires the advancement of historically disadvantaged people as a whole. The CC adopted the notion of the degree of disadvantage that was used in *Motala v University of KwaZulu-Natal and Another*, ¹⁴³ which was wrong. The SAPS National Commissioner should have considered the gender imperative and then tried to balance it with the need to achieve race representivity. ¹⁴⁴ The *Harksen* fairness test requires proportionality to always inform decisions that may unfairly impact on people. Proportionality requires the balancing of factors if one factor is to supersede the other. The CC advanced a defence for the National Commissioner's failure to consider gender stating that Barnard never raised the gender argument. ¹⁴⁵ The fact that the CC chose not

¹³⁸ Ibid para 67.

¹³⁹ Ibid para 187.

¹⁴⁰ Ibid para 25.

¹⁴¹ Ibid para 189.

¹⁴² Ibid para 114.

¹⁴³ 1995 (3) BCLR 374 (D) para 383C, D.

¹⁴⁴ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 116.

¹⁴⁵ Ibid para 122.

to raise this point of law that was lacking in Barnard's argument, applying the court's earlier decision in *Cusa*, ¹⁴⁶ points to the CC's decision being reached on a wrong point of law consequently being affected by this illegality.

Thus, for the reasons mentioned above, the failure of SAPS to appoint Barnard was irrational and unfair and supports the claim that the EEP has a quota driven motive for representivity, which conflicts with the EEA's aim. Moseneke ACJ's decision appears to have been swayed by his desire to defend the weaknesses of the rationality test he established in his earlier judgement in *Van Heerden*. The *Van Heerden* rationality test mainly relies on its first two legs of enquiry and abandons the third leg which requires a fairness test consequently resulting in a low threshold for any legislation or a measure to pass muster under section 9(2) of the Constitution. The CC made a very wrong precedent by relying on the *Van Heerden* rationality test to adjudicate the *Solidarity obo Barnard* decision.

2.6 Conclusion

The Van Heerden test sets a very low threshold for measures to meet the requirement of legitimate affirmative action measures in terms of section 9(2) of the Constitution. The Van Heerden test sets a very risky standard that has the effect of endorsing measures that otherwise impact on the inherent dignity of people as legitimate affirmative action measures. The rationality test set in Van Heerden emphasises more on the first two legs of enquiry however without incorporating a fairness test as is the case in the Harksen fairness test. Thus, in the interest of safeguarding people against irrational and arbitrary affirmative action measures, the Harksen fairness test is the most appropriate approach to utilise in determining the legality of affirmative action measures. The Harksen fairness test offers a strict standard which prevents measures that meet the Van Heerden rationality test but otherwise impugn on human dignity from being endorsed as legitimate affirmative action measures. As displayed above, the concept of demographic representivity in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA is an illegitimate affirmative action measure that fails the Harksen fairness test because it has an unfair impact on minority groups.

¹⁴⁶ Note 133 above, para 68.

¹⁴⁷ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 92.

¹⁴⁸ Note 68 above.

¹⁴⁹ Note 82 above.

CHAPTER 3: PROVISIONS FOR REPRESENTIVITY IN THE CONSTITUTION

3.1 Introduction

The concept of demographic representivity has been critiqued with regard to its breach of the right to 'equality'. Section 9(2) of the Constitution allows for affirmative action measures and sets a standard to which they should conform however, without providing a procedure of how those measures should be achieved. The duty is placed on the courts to interpret the required procedure that is envisaged by section 9(2) of the Constitution as displayed in *Solidarity obo Barnard*. Because the interpretation of the Constitution is not limited to section 9, it is necessary to consider other sections that mention requirements akin to demographic representivity and which may also provide guidance. The extent to which representivity is provided for in these sections may even guide instances of employment in the private sector. 152

The sections include section 174(2), section 193(2), 195(1)(i) and section 205(2) of the Constitution. Each section is discussed in turn below.

3.2 Section 174(2) of the Constitution

Section 174(2) of the Constitution mentions requirements for appointment to the judiciary that are akin to demographic representivity.¹⁵³ The insertion of the section in chapter VIII of the Constitution might have been a deliberate attempt to provide a procedure for affirmative action measures which section 9(2) of the Constitution lacks.¹⁵⁴ Section 174 of the Constitution reads as follows:

- (1) Any person to be appointed to the Constitutional Court must also be a South African citizen.
- (2) The need for the judiciary to reflect broadly the racial and gender composition of South Africa must be considered when judicial officers are appointed. Any appropriately qualified woman or man who is a fit and proper person may be appointed as a judicial officer.

¹⁵⁰ Louw (note 24 above) 336.

¹⁵¹ Note 82 above.

¹⁵² E Bray "Macro issues of Mikro Primary School" (2007) 10 PELJ 1, 17.

¹⁵³ Malan (note 10 above) 428.

¹⁵⁴ Note 39 above.

The section advocates for a legitimate and a broadly representative judiciary. 155 Section 9(2) of the Constitution complements this requirement by placing a duty on the Judicial Service Commission to take active measures to remedy the disparities in the demographic composition of the bench created by apartheid. 156 The requirement to consider race and gender compositions in terms of section 174(2) is justified bearing in mind South Africa's history of race and gender based exclusions, dispossessions, and unequal opportunities. ¹⁵⁷ The race and gender composition requirement merely refers to the need for all races to be represented in the Judiciary. Given the general principle of 'equality', taking race and gender into account must be seen as exceptional, and only for the limited purposes provided in section 9 of the Constitution, unless the Constitution makes special provision elsewhere, as the case for section 174(2) of the Constitution.

Transformation requires judicial appointments to incorporate diversity. ¹⁵⁸ A diverse judiciary gains legitimacy and credibility from all segments of the society as it seeks to serve South Africa as a whole. 159 Transformation is compelled by the past marginalisation of the majority of black South African people and their exclusion from consideration for judicial appointments. ¹⁶⁰ Mokgoro J, a former judge of the Constitutional Court of South Africa, voiced her concerns about the judiciary having been white-and-male dominated in the pre-democratic era. She asserts this led to the disenfranchisement of the majority of black South African people. 161 As a result, the Judicial Service Commission noted a preponderance of male applicants as opposed to female applicants. 162

The method employed for achieving broad representivity in the judiciary is scrutinised below. This is done to establish the difference between the concept of demographic representivity and broad representivity that is provided for in terms of section 174 of the Constitution.

¹⁵⁵ Singh v The Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and Others 2013 (3) SA 66 (EC) para 24.

¹⁵⁶ Ibid.

¹⁵⁷ Ibid.

¹⁵⁸ T Sidaki "Building a transformed judiciary in post-apartheid South Africa: prospects and challenges" (2012) 25 Advocate 25.

¹⁵⁹ Ibid.

¹⁶⁰ S Kentridge "Telling the Truth about Law" (1982) SALJ 648, 652.

¹⁶¹ Y Mokgoro "Judicial appointments" (2010) 23 Advocate 44, 48.

¹⁶² N Manyathi "Transformation debate continues at BLA AGM" (2012) 526 De Rebus 10, 12.

3.2.1 Numerical goals or quotas in section 174 of the Constitution?

An enquiry as to whether judicial transformation requires absolute race representivity¹⁶³ is necessary. Section 174(2) of the Constitution cannot be read without subsection (1) if a sensible interpretation of representivity is to be derived from it.¹⁶⁴ Subsection (1) reads:

- (1) Any appropriately qualified woman or man who is a fit and proper person may be appointed as a judicial officer. Any person to be appointed to the Constitutional Court must also be a South African citizen.
- (2) The need for the judiciary to reflect broadly the racial and gender composition of South Africa must be considered when judicial officers are appointed.

Section 174(2) of the Constitution utilises race and gender considerations as diversity indicators and does not seek to make them determinant factors for appointment. Thus, the need for judicial appointments to reflect the society's social composition coordinates with the need for an appropriately qualified and competent Judiciary. Section 174(2) places an obligation on the Judicial Service Commission to enquire into the race and gender composition of the Judiciary before effecting appointments. When underrepresentation is detected, the disparities are remedied by appointing competent and appropriately qualified candidates from the affected race or gender groups. Nevertheless, compliance with the requirement of a competent Judiciary safeguards the transformation from degenerating into the implementation of quotas solely based on race and gender preferences.

Thus, in *Singh v The Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and Others*, ¹⁶⁹ the Ministry of Justice in keeping up with the requirements of competence ordered the Magistrates Commission to consider seriously the provisions of section 174 of the Constitution in relation to section 9 of the Constitution. The Magistrates' Commission had discriminatorily excluded a disabled Indian female from a number of posts on the basis of inflexible 'race and gender preferences' or quotas. ¹⁷⁰ The selection criterion was held to discriminate unfairly because it

¹⁶³ Absolute race representivity refers to an exact mathematical replication of national or even local racial and gender demographics in the composition of the Judiciary.

¹⁶⁴ Manyathi (note 162 above) 12.

¹⁶⁵ Singh v The Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and Others (note 155 above) para 30.

¹⁶⁶ O Dupper "Affirmative Action: Who, How and How Long?" (2008) 24 SAJHR 1, 15.

¹⁶⁷ Malan (note 10 above) 430.

¹⁶⁸ Ibid.

¹⁶⁹ 2013 (3) SA 66 (EC) para 3.

¹⁷⁰ Singh v The Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and Others (note 155 above) para 9.

overlooked considerations of merit in favour of race and gender preferences.¹⁷¹ Although, according to section 174(2) of the Constitution race and gender considerations are important, treating them as the sole selection criteria for the achievement of broad representivity leads to the subordination of the seventeen prohibited grounds of unfair discrimination in section 9(3) of the Constitution.¹⁷²

3.3 Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution

Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution provides that public administration must reflect broadly the diverse composition of the South African people. The section provides that:

"Public administration *must be broadly representative* of the South African people, with employment and personnel management practices based on ability, objectivity, fairness, and the need to redress the imbalances of the past to achieve broad representation [emphasis added]." ¹⁷³

The phrase "must be" in the section is authoritative and may create the impression that a strict quota is provided for in public administration appointments. However, the phrase "must be broadly representative of the South African people," means no more than that the South African people should feel socially included in the management of the public administration, without any reference being given to demographic statistics. The peremptory wording of section 195(1)(i) makes it more authoritative than the provisions of section 174(2) of the Constitution, which provides a less demanding criterion. ¹⁷⁴ Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution applies to all local, provincial or national government departments and enterprises while section 174(2) only provides for judicial appointments. ¹⁷⁵ Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution was mentioned in *Munsamy v Minister of Safety and Security* ¹⁷⁶ as an important section that requires compulsory attainment of broad representivity in public administration appointments. Thus, the staff composition of public administration must be broadly representative of South Africa's social composition. ¹⁷⁷ Broad representivity must not be confused with the concept of demographic representivity which provide for a strict quota based on demographics. Section 195(1)(i) is based

¹⁷¹ Ibid.

¹⁷² Ibid para 27.

¹⁷³ Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution.

¹⁷⁴ Section 172(2) of the Constitution uses the phrase "must consider."

¹⁷⁵ Section 195(2) of the Constitution.

^{176 (2013) 7} BLLR 695 (LC) para 65.

¹⁷⁷ Note 173 above.

on an assumption that it provides a standard that should apply to affirmative action measures envisioned in section 9(2) of the Constitution, which is the pursuance of 'equality' of opportunities.

The achievement of broad representivity required in public administration appointments must be achieved with consideration of other competing factors. Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution provides a pool of factors for consideration. The mechanism allows for a balance between all the competing factors. The other factors that should be considered along with the requirement to achieve broad representivity include ability, objectivity, fairness, and the need to redress disparities caused by apartheid. These are discussed in detail below.

3.3.1 Ability

Ability is a broad term, which is capable of referring to many qualities. However, in this instance, ability refers to competency.¹⁷⁹ In the interest of enhancing service delivery, ability is one of the factors to be considered when hiring prospective employees or promoting current employees in public administration. Race and gender attributes can only be determinants for appointment of candidates who possess the required degree of competence.¹⁸⁰ Belonging to a designated group does not enhance employment prospects for incompetent and unskilled job aspirants.¹⁸¹ In *Solidarity obo Barnard*¹⁸² the decision of the SAPS National Commissioner could be justified on grounds of ability for withdrawing a vacancy after failing to find appropriately qualified candidates from designated employees. However, the SAPS National Commissioner can be condemned for failure to appoint Barnard, a member of a non-designated group who was a suitably qualified candidate, based on representivity, disregarding the importance of merit in employment.¹⁸³ The consideration of ability makes it possible for the public administration to reflect a diverse South African workforce, which is competent to boost service delivery. This

¹⁷⁸ Ibid.

¹⁷⁹ O Dupper "In Defence of Affirmative Action in South Africa" (2004) 121 SALJ 207, 209.

¹⁸⁰ Stoman v Minister of Safety and Security and others (2002) 23 ILJ 1020 (T) para 468, 482.

¹⁸¹ D Meyerson 'How Useful is the Concept of Racial Discrimination?' (1993) 110 SALJ 575, 579.

¹⁸² Note 82 above, para 9.

¹⁸³ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 80.

consideration strikes a balance between the need to achieve broad representivity and the need for a competent workforce. 184

3.3.2 Objectivity

Objectivity requires appointments to be allocated realistically in response to the current needs of the department involved. The requirement of objectivity safeguards public administration appointments from tokenism. Appointments in the public administration should not just be by numbers, but should be directed at supporting the continued viability of the department concerned. Appointing employees along demographic profiles might result in the employment of less qualified candidates if not carefully dealt with. Objectivity requires a situation sensitive approach in achieving employment equity. However, the SAPS's objectivity in its recent deployments is questionable. The SAPS recently embarked on deploying Xhosa speaking police officers to Khayelitsha, Cape Town where the local population is approximately estimated to be 90% Xhosa speaking. The deployment was in accordance with an objective to make communication between the local people and the police officers easy. While, public administration is beneficial if personnel that the community can easily relate to carry it out, SAPS's decision unfairly discriminates against police officers from other race groups who also have an equal entitlement to be stationed at Khayelitsha.

3.3.3 Fairness

What is fair depends on the circumstances of a particular situation. Fairness entails the consideration of all competing interests in decision-making, including considering the severity of any decision on the rights and legitimate interests of job seekers and promotion aspirants excluded from the benefits.¹⁹⁰ Fairness requires rationality and proportionality in the selection

¹⁸⁴ Dupper (note 166 above) 15.

¹⁸⁵ Ibid 16

¹⁸⁶ Coetzer v Minister of Safety and Security (2003) 24 ILJ 163 (LC) para 176, 177.

¹⁸⁷ Dupper (note 166 above) 12.

¹⁸⁸ South African Press Association "Xhosa policy discriminatory: Union" SABC 27 August 2014, available at http://www.sabc.co.za/news/a/cb75d28045416780b060b1a5ad025b24/Xhosa-policy-discriminatory:-Union-20142708, accessed on 24 October 2014.

¹⁸⁹ Stoman v Minister of Safety and Security and others (note 180 above) para 468, 482.

¹⁹⁰ Du Preez v Minister of Justice & Constitutional Development & others (2006) 27 ILJ 1811 (SE) para 40.

criteria to curb against appointments that are unreasonable¹⁹¹ and arbitrary. The achievement of broad representivity in public administration should be done in a fair manner and should be consistent in application.

Rationality requires reasonableness in public administration appointments. The achievement of broad representivity has to be rationally connected to the need to maintain a competent workforce. There has to be a rational connection between the choice of a particular individual for appointment and their role in enhancing service delivery. A consistent consideration of factors listed in section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution exonerates public administration departments from unfair discrimination claims. Unreasonable reliance on race as a criterion for appointment amounts to unfair discrimination. Solidarity obo Barnard confirmed that previously disadvantaged people could only be accommodated on condition that they have the required degree of competence. Public administration departments have to apply their employment equity plans rationally and in compliance with both the EEA¹⁹⁶ and the EEAA.

Proportionality requires the balancing of competing factors.¹⁹⁷ This means that public administration departments have to weigh the affirmative action obligation against considerations of ability, objectivity, and fairness. Proportionality requires broad representivity to be achieved without disproportionately affecting the rights of other work seekers and the provision of service delivery.¹⁹⁸ The need to create a diverse workforce must consistently relate to the need for a skilled workforce that enhances service delivery.¹⁹⁹ Affirmative action measures that exclusively favour 'designated groups' to the detriment of other employees and job seekers

_

¹⁹¹ The word "unreasonable" is defined as a defiance of logic in *Council of Civil Service Unions v Minister for the Civil Service* (1985) AC para 374, 408.

¹⁹² Shoprite Checkers (Pty) v Rainbow NO & Others (2000) 3 BLLR 243 (LAC) para 19.

¹⁹³ Stoman v Minister of Safety & Security & others (note 180 above) para 1031.

¹⁹⁴ Coetzee v Department of Education Western Cape (NDP) unreported case No PSES 221-08/09WC (14 April 2009) para 32.

¹⁹⁵ Note 82 above, para 66.

¹⁹⁶ See section 20 of the EEA.

¹⁹⁷ Du Preez v Minister of Justice & Constitutional Development & others (note 190 above) para 40.

¹⁹⁸ Du Toit et al *Labour Relations Law: A Comprehensive Guide* 5 ed 600.

¹⁹⁹ Ibid.

would be contrary to the objects of the EEA.²⁰⁰ There has to be a rational means of achieving broad representivity without necessarily imposing a strict quota.²⁰¹

3.3.4 The need to redress imbalances of the past

The need to redress injustices of the past requires public administration departments to ensure the 'equitable representation' of people previously disadvantaged by unfair discrimination.²⁰² Apartheid caused disparities in employment, with the majority of black South African job aspirants' employment prospects in the labour market being limited. Section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution seeks to compensate the majority of the disenfranchised black people by empowering the able but disadvantaged job aspirants. However, the affirmative action obligation placed by section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution must be fulfilled with consideration of the abovementioned factors. While it is important to remedy disparities of the past, less restrictive means should be used to achieve that objective.²⁰³ Affirmative action measures should not be used to disadvantage unfairly other members from 'designated groups' as well as members of non-designated groups.

3.4 Section 193(2) of the Constitution

Section 193(2) provides that the institutions established by Chapter IX of the Constitution must reflect the societal composition of the South African people.²⁰⁴ Section 193 of the Constitution reads as follows:

- (1) Public Protector and the members of any Commission established by this Chapter must be women or men who
 - a) are South African citizens;
 - b) are fit and proper persons to hold the particular office; and
 - c) comply with any other requirements prescribed by national legislation.
- (2) The need for a Commission established by this Chapter to reflect broadly the race and gender composition of South Africa must be considered when members are appointed.

The section requires that the composition of Commissioners reflect South Africa's rich human diversity. The requirement, however, does not place a strict reliance on demographics as a

²⁰⁰ J Grogan Dismissal, Discrimination and Unfair Labour Practices 1 ed 101.

²⁰¹ Section 36(1)(e) of the Constitution.

²⁰² Section 13 of the EEA.

²⁰³ Minister of Finance and Another v Van Heerden (note 18 above) para 44.

²⁰⁴ Section 193(2) of the Constitution.

determinant factor for appointment. Section 193(2) is worded the same way as section 174(2) of the Constitution. The phrase "must be considered" makes section 193(2) of the Constitution less demanding than section 195(1)(i) of the Constitution, which provides for mandatory broad representivity. Broad representivity only requires inclusion of all segments of the South African society in the Commissions as opposed to the concept of demographic representivity which requires a mathematical calculation of employment quotas based on demographics. Section 193(2) requires broad representivity to be achieved in consideration with other competing factors. Page 174 page 1

The requirement of broad representivity should be complemented by the job aspirant's degree of competence and possession of appropriate qualifications and skills.²⁰⁸ Employment based on merit is the standard that is required to achieve broad representivity in institutions that support constitutional democracy. Merit is a requirement while broad representivity is a consideration to be taken into account. Observance of obligations imposed by national legislation is also required in achieving broad representivity in these institutions.²⁰⁹

3.5 Section 205(2) of the Constitution

Section 205(2) of the Constitution requires the Police Service to consider the needs of provinces. The section reads:

"National legislation must establish the powers and functions of the police service and must enable the police service to discharge its responsibilities effectively, *taking into account the requirements of the provinces* [emphasis added]."²¹⁰

Section 205(2) accords with the requirement to consider regional demographics in the EEA.²¹¹ Section 42 of the EEA provides that the regional economically active population profile must also be considered when setting numerical targets. Section 205(2) affirms the need to consider regional demographics in order for the Police Service to discharge its services effectively. The

²⁰⁵ See (note 6 above).

²⁰⁶ See Cohen & Moodley (note 41 above).

²⁰⁷ See section 193(1) of the Constitution.

²⁰⁸ Section 193(1) of the Constitution.

²⁰⁹ Ibid.

²¹⁰ Section 205(2) of the Constitution.

²¹¹ See section 42 of the EEA.

latter section was mentioned in *Solidarity obo Barnard*²¹² as an essential section that was supposed to be considered by SAPS when it decided whether to promote Barnard or not. The section recognises the practical differences in the needs of the national and provincial spheres.

To disregard the needs of the provinces not only affects the legitimacy of the Police Service, but also its efficiency. As the court observed in *Stoman v Minister of Safety & Security & Others*, ²¹³ the SAPS can hardly discharge its responsibilities efficiently if its staff does not reflect the society it serves. Inclusion of the community builds trust and cooperation with the Police Service for better efficiency. The efficiency approach has been used to justify the appointment of a suitably qualified African male over a suitably qualified white female.²¹⁴ The approach sacrifices 'equality' by invoking efficiency as a defence thereby impacting on those excluded.²¹⁵ The use of this unacceptable practice has been displayed by *Solidarity obo Barnard*, ²¹⁶ where the SAPS National Commissioner decided not to fill a vacancy with a candidate from a non-designated group because representivity would not be advanced.

3.6 Can the above-mentioned provisions be read to create an exception to section 9(2) of the Constitution?

The special representivity requirements spelt out in sections 174(2), 193(2) and 195(1)(i) of the Constitution have been placed in the Constitution to provide specifically for the appointment of judicial officers, members of Commissions which support democracy, and all government departments and enterprises respectively.²¹⁷ The rules of interpretation would suggest that these provisions create exceptions from section 9(2), which should be read restrictively to accommodate instances which require the achievement of broad representivity, that is social inclusiveness per se, not the concept of demographic representivity. This is because section 9(2) runs against the general principle of 'equality'.²¹⁸

²¹² Note 29 above, para 71.

²¹³ Stoman v Minister of Safety & Security & others (note 180 above) para 482.

²¹⁴ Fourie v South African Police Service (2004) 25 ILJ 1716 (LC) para 1732, 1735.

²¹⁵ Dupper (note 166 above) 16.

²¹⁶ Note 29 above, para 71.

²¹⁷ Note 175 above.

²¹⁸ The general principle is found in section 9(1) of the Constitution which provides that "everyone is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and benefit of the law."

Sections 174(2), 193(2) and 195(1)(i) of the Constitution may serve as a guide for the practice to be followed whenever demographic representivity provisions are encountered in legislation, Broad representivity only requires social inclusiveness without making use of the strict mathematical reliance on population profiles, as encountered with demographic representivity. Although the two concepts are not the same, the requirement of broad representivity is favourable because it places merit first while race and gender considerations follow. Because of this, the concept of broad representivity is best suited to boost competence in the workforce, as opposed to demographic representivity which directly relies on race and gender consideration as the sole criterion for appointment.

The inclusion of sections 174(2), 193(2) and 195(1)(i) of the Constitution as exceptions in terms of section 9(2) of the Constitution excludes them from the general notion of 'equality' in section 9 of the Constitution. Thus, the concept of demographic representivity is unconstitutional because the abovementioned provisions are the only instances in which limited versions of demographic representivity are permitted to exist constitutionally.

3.7 Conclusion

The consideration of broad representivity has been established to mean only social inclusiveness and this maintains the merit principle because there is no rigid application of population percentages. More importantly, the existence of sections 174(2), 193(2) and 195(1)(i) in the Constitution, as special exceptions to the section 9(2) affirmative action provision, seems to suggest that the concept of demographic representivity cannot be used in conformity with section 9 of the Constitution as a whole.²¹⁹ If the drafters of the Constitution contemplated the future use of the concept of demographic representivity, they could have included a provision which provides for it as was the case of broad representivity.

-

²¹⁹ More particularly the concept of demographic representivity conflicts with section 9(1) of the Constitution which requires every person to be entitled to equal treatment.

CHAPTER 4: THE EMPLOYMENT EQUITY ACT 55 OF 1998

4.1 Introduction

As was demonstrated in Chapter 3, the issue of representivity is also featured in the Constitution. Thus, the EEA, being a creature of the Constitution, must give effect to the constitutional obligation to achieve 'equality'. The aim of the EEA is to ensure the 'equitable representation' of 'designated groups',²²⁰ and to deal with the disparities in employment caused by the apartheid regime, which perpetuated preference of white people in respect of employment opportunities. Section 2 of the EEA states that the aim of the Act is to achieve employment equity by:

- a) promoting equal opportunity and fair treatment in employment through the elimination of unfair discrimination; and
- b) implementing affirmative action measures to redress the disadvantages in employment experienced by 'designated groups', in order to ensure their 'equitable representation' in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce.

Chapter III of the EEA permits the preferential treatment of members from 'designated groups'.²²¹ To achieve the objective stated above, the EEA makes use of the concept of demographic representivity,²²² as a mechanism for transforming the labour market to reflect the South African social composition.²²³ The EEA also includes a provision that expressly prohibits the use of racial quotas in the South African labour market.²²⁴ The insertion of this provision in the EEA is intended to prevent representivity from being manipulated into implementation of racial quotas.²²⁵ Malan defines representivity as follows:

"Representivity is the norm in terms of which institutions and organised spheres of people are required to be composed in such a manner that they reflect the national population profile, particularly the racial profile of the national population."²²⁶

In this way representivity and the concept of demographic representivity mean the same thing. The following chapter analyses the legal and practical effects of the EEA's provisions for representivity as they were prior to the amendments introduced by the EEAA 47 of 2013 and

²²⁰ Section 2 of the EEA.

²²¹ Section 15 of the EEA.

²²² See (note 220 above).

²²³ Malan (note 10 above) 427.

²²⁴ See (note 86 above).

²²⁵ Malan (note 10 above) 340.

²²⁶ Ibid 427.

also the jurisprudence pertaining to these provisions. The provisions for representivity are discussed in 4.2 below.

4.2 The EEA provisions for representivity

Representivity has been generally held as an important principle on which the South African social order depends.²²⁷ As was demonstrated in Chapter 3, representivity also features in the Constitution.²²⁸ However, the real effects of representivity as a tool for transformation can be seen from the EEA provisions.²²⁹ The relevant sections in the EEA that provide for representivity, namely, sections 2, 15 and 42 are discussed in turn below.

4.2.1 Section 2 of the EEA

The EEA's purpose is to achieve employment equity in the labour market by:

- a) promoting equal opportunity and fair treatment in employment through the elimination of unfair discrimination; and
- b) implementing affirmative action measures to redress the disadvantages in employment experienced by 'designated groups', in order to ensure their 'equitable representation' in all occupational categories and all levels in the work force" 230

'Equitable representation' in terms of the EEA is one and the same thing as the concept of demographic representivity.²³¹ What this means is that the workforce of each designated employer has to reflect the national population profile of the country in its racial diversity. ²³² Section 2 being the aim of the EEA declares from the onset that its affirmative action measures are solely based on the concept of demographics representivity which uses race and sex as its main pointers in determining beneficiaries.

Section 2 of the EEA brings in 'equitable representation', a term which is not provided for in section 9(2) of the Constitution. The standard that is required by the general notion of 'equality' is that people be afforded equal opportunities.²³³ 'Equitable representation' is a term which is

²²⁷ Ibid.

²²⁸ See sections 174(2), 193(2) and 195(1)(i) of the Constitution.

²²⁹ Malan (note 10 above) 427.

²³⁰ Note 220 above.

²³¹ Malan concurs, asserting that 'equitable representation' is one and the same thing as numerical representation in (note 10 above) 430.

²³² Malan (note 10 above) 430.

²³³ Note 77 above.

alien to the Constitution as a whole. There is no mention of such a term in the Constitution and its inclusion in the EEA deviates from the known criteria for one to qualify as an affirmative action beneficiary. The Constitutional requirement for a person to benefit under section 9(2) affirmative action clause is that such person has suffered from past unfair discrimination. Equitable representation in terms of section 2 of the EEA places race and gender as its major factors for determining who should benefit under affirmative action measures and this has the potential of leading to the unfair differentiation of people in terms of section 9(3) of the Constitution. 'Equitable representation' is contrary to the principles of 'equality' and human dignity. 235

4.2.2 Section 15 of the EEA

Section 15(1) of the EEA reads as follows:

"Affirmative action measures are measures designed to ensure that suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' have equal employment opportunities and are equitably represented in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce of a designated employer."

Section 15(1) of the EEA defines what an affirmative action measure should comprise. Affirmative action measures are measures designed to advance and promote appropriately qualified people from historically disadvantaged groups in order to increase their representation in all units and levels of employment.²³⁶ As discussed in 4.2.1, 'equitable representation' requires the workforce of a designated employer to mirror the national demographics of the population. This idea of 'equitable representation' thus goes beyond what section 9(2) of the Constitution permits and inevitably results in quotas.²³⁷ Quota driven remedial measures also disregards merit.

Section 15(2)(d) of the EEA provides that:

"Affirmative action measures implemented by a designated employer must include ... subject to subsection (3), measures to ensure the 'equitable representation' of suitably qualified people

²³⁴ Note 39 above.

²³⁵ Note 49 above.

²³⁶ Note 8 above.

²³⁷ Section 9(2) of the Constitution provides that "equality includes the full and equal enjoyment of all rights and freedoms that "To promote the achievement of equality, legislative and other measures designed to protect or advance persons, or categories of persons, disadvantaged by unfair discrimination may be taken."

from 'designated groups' in all occupational categories and levels in the workforce [emphasis added]."²³⁸

The section supplements section 15(1) of the EEA by providing a way of advancing the concept of demographic representivity. The measures which section 15(2)(d) refers to are numerical goals which should be used to allocate employment quotas per each race group. These numerical goals are informed by demographic statistics, making it difficult to execute those measures without implementing quotas. Section 15(3) of the EEA provides that affirmative action measures "include preferential treatment and numerical goals, but exclude quotas." Section 15 of the EEA offers an imprecise safe-guard against quotas because the execution of numerical goals has little difference to the concept of demographic representivity. Numerical goals only use a flexible criterion but with similar repercussions. The difference between the impermissible quotas and the legitimate measure of numerical goals in the EEA is discussed in 4.3.1 below.

Section 15(4) of the EEA provides the following:

"Subject to section 42, nothing in this section requires a designated employer to take any decision concerning an employment policy or practice that would establish an absolute barrier to the prospective or continued employment or advancement of people who are not from 'designated groups'."

Section 15(4) of the EEA is a prohibition which seeks to prohibit employers from adopting employment policies that creates absolute barriers for the advancement, promotion or employment of people from non-'designated groups'. Section 15(4) could have been a good section was it not for its lack of authority. The lack of an authoritative term in section 15(4) means that all the other sections that are authoritative override it - for example section 42 of the EEA which creates demographic representivity requirements to which section 15(4) must succumb to. *Solidarity obo Barnard*²⁴⁰ is one of the decisions in which the issue of absolute barriers was considered, with the CC ruling that Barnard's exclusion did not create an absolute barrier to her appointment, regardless of the fact that she was not appointed to salary level 9 based on representivity.

²³⁸ Section 15(2)(d)(i) of the EEA.

²³⁹ Note 86 above.

²⁴⁰ Note 82 above, para 90.

4.2.3 Section 42 of the EEA

Section 42 of the EEA is an assessment indicator that must be used by the Director-General or any persons or juristic persons applying the Act²⁴¹ for the purpose of determining whether a designated employer is complying with the EEA's employment equity obligations. Moreover, in addition to factors mentioned in section 15 of the EEA, section 42 requires the extent to which members from 'designated groups' are equitably represented in every unit and level of employment to be determined in relation to the

"demographic profile of the national and regional economically active population; pool of suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' from which the employer may reasonably be expected to promote or appoint employees; economic and financial factors relevant to the sector in which the employer operates; present and anticipated economic and financial circumstances of the employer; and the number of present and planned vacancies that exist in the various categories and levels, and the employer's labour turnover [emphasis added]."²⁴²

Section 42 of the EEA implies that the prohibition against quotas is applicable to its factors because it states that those factors mentioned in section 15 of the EEA may also be considered in the assessment of compliance process. This means that the assessment factors listed in section 42 of the EEA should be compliant with section 15(4), which prohibits designated employers from adopting employment policies or practices that create absolute barriers for hiring, promotion, and professional advancement of members from non-'designated groups'. However, as stated above, section 15(4) of the EEA lacks peremptory wording to make it authoritative. Only if a designated employer identifies underrepresentation of a designated group is it permissible to employ the section 42 factors to set numerical targets directed at remedying the deficiency in their representation.²⁴³ However, this type of demographic representivity would be one that is disguised in numerical goals. When a designated employer pursues goals that are informed by section 15 and 42 factors, such affirmative action measures would be legitimate for the purposes of section 15 of the EEA.²⁴⁴ A measure that does not take cognisance of or deviates from the standard set in section 15 and section 42 factors would operate the same way as quotas.²⁴⁵

²⁴¹ Note 132 above.

²⁴² Section 42(a) of the EEA.

²⁴³ Louw (note 24 above) 341.

²⁴⁴ Ibid 342.

²⁴⁵ Ibid.

Despite the clear standards of affirmative action measures that were displayed in the EEA's abovementioned provisions for representivity, there are still problems with regard to the application of the Act, particularly with the provision of affirmative action benefits. The legal and practical effects caused by the implementation of race-based affirmative action in the South African labour market are discussed below.

4.3 The legal and practical effects of the EEAs provisions for representivity

The application of the EEAs concept of demographic representivity often leads to unfair discrimination which the Act purports to combat. The implementation of quotas in the South African labour market exacerbates divisions in employment. The legal and practical effects posed by the implementation of demographic representivity in terms of the EEA are discussed below.

4.3.1 Imposition of racial quotas

A problem that is posed by the implementation of affirmative action measures in terms of section 15 of the EEA is the potential implementation of racial quotas. Thus, it is necessary to distinguish between the legitimate measure of numerical goals and the prohibited quotas. The distinction of the terms serves to settle the confusion that surrounds the two terms. *The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language* defines quotas as "a number or percentage... of people, constituting a required or targeted minimum: e.g. a system of quotas for hiring minority applicants [emphasis added]."²⁴⁶ With regard to the implementation of quotas in the labour market, Pretorius, Klinck, and Ngwena describe quotas as follows:

"Quotas refer to all preferential techniques that have the effect of reserving all or a fixed percentage of job opportunities for 'designated groups'. This may be achieved through the setting aside of specific number of positions for 'designated groups' or by making designated group status the only or dominant criterion for eligibility for employment opportunities" 247

The observation by Pretorius, Klinck, and Ngwena shows that quotas are rigid by nature and do not allow any room for flexibility. The definition of quotas closely suits the aim and objective of the EEA. The EEAs aim is mainly the advancement of historically disadvantaged people and to

²⁴⁷ JL Pretorius, ME Klinck & CG Ngwena Employment Equity Law (loose-leaf, service issue 4, 2000) at ch 9-50.

²⁴⁶ The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 4 ed (2000).

that effect identifies those people as a designated group.²⁴⁸ Thus, being a black South African, whether African, Coloured, or Indian becomes the determinant factor for a person to qualify for affirmative action benefits.²⁴⁹ The merit of a job aspirant is overlooked in favour of race considerations, even though it might be relevant.²⁵⁰ This a rigid imposition of quotas.

To give effect to the aim of the EEA, section 42 of the EEA requires regional and economically active population profiles to be taken into account in setting numerical goals for the advancement of 'designated groups'.²⁵¹ Thus, section 42 of the EEA reserves job opportunities that reflect the relative population percentages of designated and non-'designated groups' and this mechanism operates the same way as quotas. However, the EEA's wording implies that it advances a legitimate measure of numerical goals.²⁵² A legitimate numerical goal is a target that is set based on demographic statistics but the only difference being that it is permitted by the EEA in section 15(3). Thus, it is also crucial to scrutinise the meaning of numerical goals.

The Code of Good Practice: Preparation, Implementation, and Monitoring of Employment Equity Plans²⁵³ promulgated by the Department of Labour, describes the basis of numerical goals as follows:

"Numerical goals should be developed for the appointment and promotion of people from 'designated groups'. The purpose of these goals would be to increase the representation of people from 'designated groups' in each occupational category and level in the employer's workforce, where underrepresentation has been identified and to make the workforce reflective of the relevant demographics as provided for in form EEA8."

The Department of Labour's above-mentioned publication contrasts with Connolly's observation that numerical goals "are aspirational in nature" and to that effect, that "they do not predetermine the outcome of any given selection decision." The purpose of numerical goals that is described by the Code of Good Practice²⁵⁵ contains nothing different from the definition of quotas provided above. The target people of affirmative action measures are a pre-determined group, namely, the

²⁴⁸ Note 220 above.

²⁴⁹ Louw (note 24 above) 339.

²⁵⁰ Ibid.

²⁵¹ Section 42(a)(i) of the EEA.

²⁵² See section 15(3) to (4) of the EEA.

²⁵³ GN R1394 of GG 20626, 23/12/1999.

²⁵⁴ M Connolly R Townshend-Smith Discrimination Law: Text, Cases and Materials (1998) 562.

²⁵⁵ Note 253 above.

'designated groups'.²⁵⁶ To achieve the EEA's aim, numerical goals, just like quotas, utilise population percentages for the purposes of allocating affirmative action benefits to each target race group.²⁵⁷ For these reasons, no clear distinction can be drawn between the legitimate measure of numerical goals and the prohibited quotas, their only difference being that numerical goals are flexible and quotas are rigid in application, with similar results.²⁵⁸

The pursuit of employment equity targets that withhold employment opportunities from members of non-'designated groups' would be in breach of section 5 of the EEA which requires designated employers to take reasonable steps to ensure that their workforce is entitled to equal opportunities. The provisions of section 5 of the EEA requires people to be treated equally in respect of employment opportunities, is in line with section 9 that recognises that people are equal in dignity and should be treated equally. Thus, in as far as section 6(2) of the EEA provides a defence for preferring black South Africans, measures that are quota-driven or seek to perpetuate the disadvantage of non-'designated groups' lack reasonableness and proportionality²⁶⁰ and fall short of being 'legitimate' affirmative action measures for the purposes of section 15(4) of the EEA.²⁶¹ Section 6 of the EEA reads as follows:

(1) It is not unfair discrimination to-

- a) take affirmative action measures consistent with the purpose of this Act; or
- b) distinguish, exclude or prefer any person on the basis of an inherent requirement of a job.

Section 6(2) of the EEA contains a similar provision as section 9(2) of the Constitution. However, section 6(2) of the EEA provides a justification that goes beyond immutable characteristics and attributes, which are the affirmative action defence and the inherent requirements of the job defence. While an employer can use the affirmative action defence to refuse to advance non-'designated groups', he is also empowered with the inherent requirement of the job defence in refusing to comply with rigid demographic statistics.

²⁵⁶ Note 221 above.

²⁵⁷ Louw (note 24 above) 338.

²⁵⁸ Ibid.

²⁵⁹ Ibid 342.

²⁶⁰ The requirement of reasonableness was established in Van Heerden rationality test in *Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden* (note 18 above) para 41, which requires a measure to be rationally connected to its purpose; and the requirement of proportionality was established in the Harksen fairness test in *Harksen v Lane NO and Others* (note 91 above) para 52, which requires all important considerations to be balanced in order to avoid arbitrariness.

²⁶¹ Louw (note 24 above) 342.

4.3.2 Abrogation of the merit principle

Merit is one of the foremost principles that maintain a workforce that is best suited to advance the business interests of designated employers. Merit is an important consideration that should not be easily overlooked.²⁶² Merit denotes the skills, attributes, and characteristics that are used to determine whether a candidate would be in a position to perform a particular job satisfactorily.²⁶³ As indicated in 4.3.1 above, there is a possible lack of distinction between numerical goals and quotas; this section seeks to display how the imposition of quotas in the South African labour market affects merit-based employment.²⁶⁴

The use of quotas is characterised by the use of non-job related factors in the employment selection criteria of designated employers. Race plays a major role in the implementation of quotas. While section 15 of the EEA provides two requirements for the implementation of affirmative action measures, namely, that the target group should be 'designated groups' and that such people should be appropriately qualified, designated employers often resort to non-job related factors when hiring and promoting employees. 266

Connolly observes that the imposition of quotas, which are often disguised as numerical goals, leads to the appointment of less qualified job candidates for the job. ²⁶⁷ The concept of demographic representivity which the EEA utilises predetermines a fixed percentage of members who are to represent any particular race group. ²⁶⁸ This implies that even if some people might be the best candidates for the job, they are excluded from consideration if the quota allocated to their group has been filled. This scenario is evident in *Solidarity obo Barnard* discussed in Chapter 2 (see 2.3 above). Barnard a white female police officer, after a series of two interviews, gave up due to the SAPS National Commissioner's failure to appoint her despite being the best candidate for the promotion on all occasions. The National Commissioner cited representivity as one of the reasons for failure to promote Barnard. According to the SAPS EEP, it was apparent

²⁶² Section 15(1) of the EEA provides that, affirmative action measures are measures that advance "suitably qualified" people from disadvantaged groups.

²⁶³ Louw (note 24 above) 338.

²⁶⁴ Ibid.

²⁶⁵ Ibid.

²⁶⁶ Ibid.

²⁶⁷ Connolly (note 254 above) 562.

²⁶⁸ Louw (note 24 above) 339.

²⁶⁹ Note 82 above, para 66.

that white females were overrepresented at salary level 9.270 As a result, the quota that had been allocated to white females had been filled and, even though Barnard was an appropriately qualified candidate, merit would not enhance her chances of being promoted, faced with a rigid quota placed by the SAPS EEP, which applied demographic representivity.²⁷¹ The Barnard decision displays the impact of racial profiling on merit based employment. In accordance with the EEA's obligation to achieve employment equity, demographic representivity uses racial profiling as a mechanism of achieving employment equity, which excludes other competing factors.²⁷² It is for this reason that it was argued in 2.6 above that the concept of demographic representivity is unconstitutional.

4.3.3 Exclusion of minority groups

The use of demographic representivity has consequences for the South African labour market with regard to fairness. The EEA's aim clearly states that the object of the Act is to achieve employment equity by advancing appropriately qualified people from 'designated groups'.²⁷³ Being a member of a designated group and being appropriately qualified are the only requirements for a person to qualify for affirmative action benefits under the EEA. 274 The EEA aims to advance appropriately qualified people from 'designated groups' as a whole in order to ensure that they are equitably represented in every unit and level of employment.²⁷⁵ However, the wording of section of 42 of the EEA has not been carefully constructed by the legislature. Section 42 of the EEA establishes degrees of disadvantage that are not envisaged in the EEA's aim. 276 Section 42 of the EEA allows the extent to which employees are represented in the workplace to be considered even amongst 'designated groups'. 277 The aforementioned determination utilises the national and regional economically active population profiles as its mechanism of transformation.

²⁷⁰ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 66.

²⁷¹ Ibid para 131.

²⁷² See (note 86 above).

²⁷³ Note 220 above.

²⁷⁴ Ibid.

²⁷⁵ Ibid.

²⁷⁶ See (note 242 above).

²⁷⁷ Section 42(a) of the EEA provides that "the extent to which suitably qualified people from and amongst the different 'designated groups' are equitably represented within each occupational category and level in that employer's workforce ..." should be determined.

Despite section 42 of the EEA being clear in its wording that both national and regional demographics are applicable in the setting of employment equity targets, ²⁷⁸ some designated employers only resort to the use of the national economically active population profile in setting employment equity targets as was the case in *Munsamy*. ²⁷⁹ This has the effect of excluding some of the targeted beneficiaries of the EEA. Thus, Africans, who constitute a majority of the national population profile, benefit the most. This, however, is problematic in that the EEA recognises 'designated groups' as a class of people who should be advanced as a whole. 280 The demarcations created by demographic representivity when it distinguishes people based on their race displays the negative effects which the concept has as a mechanism of affirmative action in the South African labour market. In Munsamy v Minister of Safety and Security²⁸¹ the court considered whether it is justifiable for an employer to favour one group of designated employees over another, which is purportedly overrepresented, in the absence of a clear EEP. Munsamy a police officer employed by SAPS was recommended for a post but was not appointed on the basis that Indians were overrepresented at that level and an African was appointed instead.²⁸² Indians were susceptible to past unfair discrimination and failure to promote Munsamy was considered to be unfair. The court found that the failure to appoint Munsamy amounted to unfair discrimination after considering the impact of the breach on his human dignity as a member of a designated group.²⁸³

There are also problems that are caused by disregarding the regional economically active population profile when setting employment equity targets. Disregarding the regional economically active population profile affects minority groups who constitute a majority in some provinces in South Africa. The exclusion of regional demographics came under the spotlight in *Solidarity and Others v Department of Correctional Services and Others*, which considered whether designated employers must consider both the regional and national economically active population profiles when setting employment equity targets. The applicants were Coloured people and one white person. The applicants alleged that the Department of Correctional Service

_

²⁷⁸ Note 242 above.

²⁷⁹ Note 176 above, para 3.

²⁸⁰ See (note 220 above).

²⁸¹ Note 176 above, para 3.

²⁸² Munsamy v Minister of Safety and Security (note 7 above) para 14.

²⁸³ Ibid para 75.

²⁸⁴ (2012) 11 BLLR 1163 (LC) para 4.

(DCS) unfairly discriminated against them by failing to appoint them to posts they had applied for, a decision that was informed by an EEP that was exclusively based on national demographics.²⁸⁵ Consequently, the court held that the DCS's EEP was inconsistent with affirmative action measures contemplated by section 6(2) of the EEA.²⁸⁶ The DCS was ordered to consider both the national and regional economically active population profiles when setting employment equity targets in every unit or level of its workforce.²⁸⁷

Moreover, the EEA affects employment prospects of people from non-'designated groups' as its aim clearly states that its purpose is to advance appropriately qualified members from 'designated groups'. However, from the definition of 'designated groups', it is apparent that white females and disabled white males are members of 'designated groups' for the purposes of the EEA, with only physically able white males being excluded (the only non-designated group in the EEA). Most designated employers choose to overlook this consideration, resulting in race considerations overriding decisions when setting employment equity targets. One of the notable decisions that show the predicament faced by white people who qualify as members of 'designated groups' but were overlooked based on representivity is the case of *Solidarity obo Barnard*. In this decision, the National Commissioner of the SAPS did not even consider Barnard's gender and did not recognise her as a member of a designated group despite being a white female. Plane is the case of the same and the same as a member of a designated group despite being a white female.

4.3.4 Inherent requirement of the job defence

Section 6 of the EEA provides designated employers with both an affirmative action defence and an inherent requirement of the job defence when implementing employment equity.²⁹² Section 6(2) of the EEA reads as follows:

- (2) It is not unfair discrimination to
 - c) take affirmative action measures consistent with the purpose of this Act; or

²⁸⁵ Solidarity and Others v Department of Correctional Services and Others (2012) 11 BLLR 1163 (LC) para 4.

²⁸⁶ Ibid para 56.

²⁸⁷ Ibid.

²⁸⁸ See (note 220 above).

²⁸⁹ Louw (note 24 above) 343.

²⁹⁰ Note 82 above, para 73.

²⁹¹ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 120.

²⁹² Section 6(2) of the EEA provides that "it is not unfair discrimination to take affirmative action measures consistent with the purpose of this Act; or distinguish, exclude or prefer any person on the basis of an inherent requirement of a job."

d) distinguish, exclude or prefer any person on the basis of an inherent requirement of a job.

An inherent requirement of the job defence plays a vital role in the EEA. This defence is one of the only ways in which members of non-designated groups may be protected from the impact of the concept of demographic representivity. What this means is that a designated employer, even when faced with rigid demographic statistics which needs to be fulfilled, can invoke the inherent requirements of the job defence where appropriate to prevent an unsuitable candidate from being recruited.²⁹³

However, the inherent requirements of the job defence may also be detrimental in the South African Labour market because it constitutes a defence which justifies designated employers' failure to achieve affirmative action in a way which promotes the achievement of equality as contemplated in the Constitution.²⁹⁴ Section 6(2) of the EEA places unfettered powers on designated employers to design requirements which they deem inherent and which are regarded to bring the job to a standstill if not fulfilled. Owing to the concept of demographic representivity's use of racial proportions, race has been made an inherent requirement of the job. The idea of race as an inherent requirement of the job has been displayed in *Solidarity obo Barnard*,²⁹⁵ where Barnard, a white female officer was denied a promotion on the basis of representivity. Since white female police officers were overrepresented at salary level 9,²⁹⁶ it had become an inherent requirement of the job that an appropriate candidate to fill the post was supposed to be a member of an underrepresented race group.

The inherent requirement of the job defence, not only affect people from non-designated groups but members of designated groups as well. In *Naidoo*,²⁹⁷ discussed numerous times above, an Indian female police officer was denied a promotion on the basis of both representivity and the operational requirements of the job. The SAPS considered Naidoo's appointment to the post as detrimental to its provision of service delivery.²⁹⁸ The requirement of proportional race representation informed by national demographics, as well as the requirement of suitably

²⁹³ Section 6(2) of the EEA.

²⁹⁴ See section 9(2) of the Constitution which states that affirmative action measures must promote the achievement of equality.

²⁹⁵ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 16.

²⁹⁶ Ibid para 66.

²⁹⁷ Ibid para 6.

²⁹⁸ Ibid.

qualified workforce doubled Naidoo's prejudice, displaying how invidious the invocation of the inherent requirements of the job can be in the South African labour market.

4.4 Conclusion

The enactment of the EEA was an important achievement of the legislature. The Act was an important piece of legislation in its attempt to avoid quotas in the South African labour market. However, the problem has been with the designated employers' application and the courts' interpretation of the prohibition against the use of quotas in the South African labour market. Some of the courts have condoned the use of quotas when they were disguised as numerical goals. The Constitutional court in *Solidarity obo Barnard*²⁹⁹ avoided answering an important question pertaining to whether quotas are permissible in the South African labour market. Thus, it can be inferred that the use of quotas has been legitimised as a permissible affirmative action measure as long they are disguised as numerical goals. Furthermore, the implementation of numerical goals inescapably leads to quotas because of their use of goals or targets.³⁰⁰

-

²⁹⁹ Note 82 above, para 91.

³⁰⁰ South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard (note 83 above) para 54.

CHAPTER 5: THE EMPLOYMENT EQUITY AMENDMENT ACT 47 OF 2013

5.1 Introduction

In order to clarify the legal implications of the EEA of 1998, the EEAA was enacted and legalises the practice of quotas that was previously applied under the guise of numerical goals. Section 16 of the EEAA amends section 42 of the EEA³⁰¹ and does away with considerations aimed at encouraging employment by merit.³⁰² This chapter discusses what the thinking and motivation of the drafters of the EEAA might have been and the amendments pertaining to representivity as well as their legal and practical effects in the South African labour market.

5.2 The thinking and motivation of the EEAA's drafters

The prime reason for drafting the EEAA was to fill in the gaps that were apparent in the EEA, but the thinking of the legislature can only remain a matter of speculation. However, an insight into the motivation and thinking behind the drafting of the EEAA may be provided for in the Memorandum on the Objects of the Employment Equity Amendment Bill of 2012³⁰⁴ as well as the substance of the EEAA's amendments. The most disappointing part is that item 3 of the Bill fails to help comprehend the legislature's motivation and thinking because it just paraphrases section 16 of the EEAA. Thus, it might as well be best for individuals to get insight into the motive of the EEAA's amendments from the interpretation of section 16 of the Act. Act.

The EEAA entrenches the notion of the degree of disadvantage in the South African labour market. Section 16 of the EEAA (replacing section 42 of the EEA) allows for the achievement of 'equitable representation of suitably qualified employees even amongst members of different 'designated groups'.³⁰⁶ The concept of the degree of disadvantage has been previously applied though not provided for in clear terms by legislation.³⁰⁷ The degree of disadvantage was

³⁰¹ Note 25 above.

³⁰² Ibid.

³⁰³ See item 1 of the Memorandum on the Objects of the Employment Equity Amendment Bill of 2012.

³⁰⁴ Item 2 of the Memorandum on the Objects of the Employment Equity Amendment Bill of 2012 provides that some of the objects of the Bill are "giving effect to and regulating the fundamental rights conferred by section 9 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996; and rectifying anomalies and clarifying uncertainties that have arisen from the interpretation and application of the EEA in the past decade."

³⁰⁵ Note 23 above.

³⁰⁶ Note 25 above.

³⁰⁷ See Motala and Another v University of KwaZulu-Natal 1995 (3) BCLR 374 (D) para 383C, D.

considered in *Motala and Another v University of KwaZulu-Natal*³⁰⁸ to benefit an African student applying for admission to university. Although this case was not in the employment context, the notion established in *Motala*³⁰⁹ was adopted in *Fourie v Provincial Commissioner of the South African Police Service and Another*,³¹⁰ where the court affirmed that, while white females were also disadvantaged by apartheid, Africans were the most disadvantaged. The notion of the degree of disadvantage advances people in relation to the extent of discrimination they endured.³¹¹ Thus, it affirms that Africans should get first preference due to the severe discrimination they endured during the apartheid era, with Coloureds, Indians and Whites enjoying second, third and fourth preferences respectively.

The following section discusses the EEAA's provisions for representivity.

5.3 The EEAA's provisions for representivity

Section 7 of the EEAA amends section 15 of the EEA, while section 16 of the EEAA substitutes section 42 of the EEAA as stated above. The discussion below is restricted to these substitutions and amendments pertaining to representivity.

5.3.1 Section 7 of the EEAA

Section 7(a) of the EEAA amends section 15 of the EEA by substituting subsection (1) with the following subsection:

(1) Affirmative action measures are measures designed to ensure that suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' have equal employment opportunities and are equitably represented *in all occupational levels* in the workforce of a designated employer [emphasis added]."

Section 7(b) of the EEAA substitutes subsection 2(d)(i) of the EEA with the following subsection:

i) ensure the 'equitable representation' of suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' *in all occupational levels* in the workforce [emphasis added]."

³⁰⁸ Note 143 above, para 383C-D.

³⁰⁹ Ibid.

³¹⁰ (2004) 25 ILJ 1716 (LC) para F.

³¹¹ See Fourie v South African Police Service and Another (note 214 above) para F.

The EEAA omitted reference to "categories" in amending section 15 of the EEA. 312 The original wording included the phrase "all occupational categories and levels." The motive behind the omission was to pave the way for the guidelines envisaged in section 16 of the EEAA read together with section 21 of the EEAA. 314 Section 21 of the EEAA, which amends section 55 of the EEA, permits the Minister of Labour after consultation with the National Economic Development and Labour Council (NEDLAC) to issue regulations that should be used to assess designated employers' compliance with the EEA.315 The new amendments have created a gap in the EEA that could cause chaos in the South African labour market, unless the Minister of Labour immediately issues regulations that guide the application of demographic representivity. The Draft Employment Equity Regulations of 2014 were supposed to provide guidelines to designated employers for determining which of the economically active population profiles to use in setting numerical targets, depending on the size of their workforce.³¹⁶ However, stakeholders viewed the Draft Employment Equity Regulations³¹⁷ with contempt because its proposed allocations were viewed as quota driven. Consequently, the Employment Equity Regulations³¹⁸ were issued without guidelines for the application of demographic representivity. This made the situation worse than it was before the EEAA.

5.3.2 Section 16 of the EEAA

Section 42 of the EEA provided that the Director-General or person or body applying the Act in order to assess the compliance of designated employers with the Act "must" consider factors in section 42(a) to (e) in addition to those mentioned in section 15. However, section 42 of the EEA as amended by section 16 of the EEAA now provides that the Director-General, or person or body applying the Act for assessing designated employers' compliance with the Act,³¹⁹ "may" consider in addition to factors mentioned in section 15, the following factors:

a) The extent to which suitably qualified people from and amongst the different 'designated groups' are equitably represented within each occupational level in that employer's

312 Note 25 above.

³¹³ Note 8 above.

³¹⁴ Note 25 above.

³¹⁵ See section 21 of the EEAA.

³¹⁶ See regulation 3 of the Draft Employment Equity Regulations 2014.

³¹⁷ GG 37338, 24/02/2014.

³¹⁸ GN 590 of GG 37873, 01/08/2014.

³¹⁹ Note 132 above.

- workforce in relation to the demographic profile of the national and regional economically active population:
- b) reasonable steps taken by a designated employer to train suitably qualified people from the 'designated groups';
- c) reasonable steps taken by a designated employer to implement its employment equity plan;
- d) the extent to which the designated employer has made progress in eliminating employment barriers that adversely affect people from 'designated groups';
- dA)reasonable steps taken by an employer to appoint and promote suitably qualified people from the 'designated groups'; and
- e) any other prescribed factor."

Section 16 of the EEAA deletes subsections 1(a)(ii) to (v) in section 42 of the EEA, which required the complementing of representivity and the operational requirements of business enterprises.³²⁰ The amendments to section 42 of the EEA focus on the need to advance members of 'designated groups', disregarding the needs of business.³²¹ Thus, employers are left without an excuse for failure to advance members of 'designated groups'. Furthermore, the amendments allow for accommodation of members of 'designated groups' even though they may possess minimum skills required for the relevant job.³²² Thus, the amendments pose problems in the South African labour market as merit is disregarded in favour of race imperatives.

5.4 Practical effects of the EEAA's provisions for representivity

The EEAA's provisions have caused uncertainty in the South African labour market.³²³ Furthermore, they have implications for minority groups as well as the needs of business.

5.4.1 Uncertainty

The EEAA, just like its predecessor, the EEA, fails to provide the anticipated remedy for the quagmire in which the South African labour market is trapped. What the EEAA has done is to exacerbate the troubled situation in the labour market. The EEAA's amendments give designated employers the option to choose any of the economically active population profiles to use.³²⁴ As noted above, section 16 of the EEAA deleted the word "must" in section 42(a) of the EEA and inserted the word "may". Affording designated employers such an option nevertheless poses

³²⁰ Note 25 above.

³²¹ Ibid.

³²² Ibid

³²³ Jacques Van Wyk "New employment equity targets create uncertainty" *Cape Times* 27 March 2014 at 16.

³²⁴ Note 25 above.

problems in the labour market. A dispute concerning whether designated employers should use both the national and regional demographics when setting numerical targets under the EEA arose in *Solidarity and Others*.³²⁵ Rabkin-Naicker J ruled that the proper application of section 42 of the EEA required that designated employers when setting numerical targets should use both national and regional demographics.³²⁶ The reasoning was directed at advancing the majority of the black South African people in line with the constitutional obligation to achieve substantive 'equality'.³²⁷ However, the problem arises by providing employers with the choice of using any economically active population profile they see fit.³²⁸ More chaos will ensue since the regulations that were to serve as a guide to the application of demographic representivity were abandoned in the Employment Equity Regulations³²⁹ issued on 1 August 2014.

5.4.2 The needs of business

With the advent of the EEAA, merit is no longer a requirement in designated employers' employment selection criteria.³³⁰ The consideration of a consortium of suitably qualified job aspirants from which a designated employer may choose is no longer required by the EEAA.³³¹ The EEAA's amendments focus on the reasonable steps that designated employers should take to accommodate members of 'designated groups'.³³² Thus, designated employers are required to develop the skills of suitably qualified people from 'designated groups' who may possess minimal required skills.³³³ This results in the employment of less skilled employees.³³⁴

The requirement to consider how other designated employers in the same sector are progressing with employment equity is no longer required.³³⁵ The exclusion of this requirement by the EEAA results in unrealistic expectations being heaped on designated employers. Moreover, the consideration of the number of jobs available in the designated employer's occupational

³²⁵ Note 284 above, 4.

³²⁶ Solidarity and Others v Department of Correctional Services and Others (note 285 above) para 45.

³²⁷ Ibid.

³²⁸ Note 25 above.

³²⁹ Note 318 above.

³³⁰ Note 25 above.

³³¹ Ibid.

³³² Ibid.

³³³ Ibid.

³³⁴ Ibid.

³³⁵ Ibid.

categories and levels is left out.³³⁶ Also, the economic factors relevant to the circumstances of a particular designated employer are disregarded.³³⁷

The abrogation of the above-mentioned considerations means that designated employers no longer have a reason for failure to implement employment equity, particularly the advancement of 'designated groups'. Section 16 of the EEAA heightens race as the determining factor for appointment. This was the case in *Solidarity obo Barnard*,³³⁸ where the National Commissioner of SAPS sacrificed service delivery for the sake of advancing representivity. While quotas were disguised in numerical goals under the EEA, the EEAA through its provisions openly declares race classification as the determining factor for appointment.³³⁹

5.4.3 Exclusion of minority groups from affirmative action benefits

The notion of the degrees of disadvantage focusses on the advancement of groups that suffered the most disadvantage during the apartheid era,³⁴⁰ hence, the use of the national economically active population profile, of which the Africans constitute a majority.

Substantive 'equality' requires all black South Africans to benefit equally from remedial measures. 341 Notwithstanding that, the notion of the degrees of disadvantage also breaches the constitutional obligation to achieve substantive 'equality' in terms of section 9(2) of the Constitution. The underlying problem of the EEA was that most employers resorted to the use of regional demographics, which resulted in the employment of more Indian and Coloured employees in KwaZulu-Natal and Western Cape respectively. 342 The EEAA does not remedy the situation, but rather turns the tables. Indians and Coloureds, who once enjoyed the benefits of regional demographic representivity, would be disadvantaged if national demographics are used in setting numerical targets. In *Munsamy*, 343 it was asserted that Indian and Coloured members of the SAPS in KwaZulu-Natal and the Western Cape respectively would have to migrate to other

³³⁶ Ibid.

³³⁷ Ibid.

³³⁸ Note 82 above, para 16.

³³⁹ Note 25 above.

³⁴⁰ See *Motala and Another v University of KwaZulu-Natal* (note 307 above) para 383C, D.

³⁴¹ Solidarity and Others v Department of Correctional Services and Others (note 285 above) para 30

³⁴² Bradley Conradie "Employment Equity Act amendments -The detail behind the politics" Moneyweb 23 March 2011, available at http://www.moneyweb.co.za/moneyweb-soapbox/employment-equity-act-amendments--the-detail-behin?sn=2009+Detail, accessed on 26 October 2014.

³⁴³ Note 176 above, para 37.

provinces for promotions and employment prospects once the allocated race quotas are filled in their provinces. The EEAA is unconstitutional because it creates demarcations amongst 'designated groups', which are in contravention of what the legislature contemplated in section 9(2) of the Constitution.³⁴⁴

5.5 Conclusion

The EEAA abrogates the requirement to employ based on merit. The merit principle has been the foremost principle in maintaining a competent and a qualified workforce that boosts service delivery. However, group affiliations have now been made the determining factor for appointment. All the previous relevant considerations under the EEA have been repealed by the EEAA. The new developments have caused further implications with regard to the right to fairness in the South African labour market. While Africans are acknowledged as the first preferred beneficiaries of affirmative action, Indians and Coloureds are demeaned to second and third class citizens. Moreover, the EEAA's affirmative action policy by omission reduces white people to fourth-class citizens. The EEAA has diverted most of the affirmative action measures to benefit Africans. This diversion is detrimental to members of other 'designated groups' who are less preferred as well as members of non-'designated groups'. While the exclusion of white people can be justified on the basis of substantive 'equality', the exclusion of other 'designated groups' does not pass constitutional muster under section 9(2) of the Constitution.

³⁴⁴ Note 39 above.

CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Conclusions

Drawing on the analysis developed in the various chapters, it may be concluded that the concept of demographic representivity as provided for in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA is contrary to the obligation imposed by the Constitution to provide every person the right to 'equality'. Rather, the concept is deeply rooted in a quest to ensure that everyone attains the same outcome.³⁴⁵ This is contrary to the whole essence of substantive 'equality', which recognises the difference in people's circumstances and therefore the need to empower disadvantaged members of society.³⁴⁶ What the concept of demographic representivity seeks to achieve is to make people ends in themselves.³⁴⁷ This creates apartheid type demarcations where people who are equal in dignity are grouped according to their race and gender. This results in a situation where the empowerment of any race or gender group leads to the denigration of other race or gender groups.³⁴⁸ The quota driven motive of the concept of demographic representivity is far from the objective of promoting the 'equality' which it claims to achieve. Thus, it has been demonstrated that the concept of demographic representivity is an unconstitutional affirmative action measure.³⁴⁹

This dissertation provides a challenge to South African government policy in respect of demographic representivity, a widespread mechanism of affirmative action. The dissertation makes a contribution in that it comments on new legislation which has not been commented much on previously, namely, the EEAA. In addition, it takes a novel approach to the concept of demographic representivity. As stated in 1.2 above, most of the literature on demographic representivity has been based on the practicality of the concept per se, 350 without, however, challenging its constitutionality. This dissertation seeks to challenge the constitutionality of the concept of demographic representivity as it applies in the South African labour market. It is suggested that, in order to address the issue, the government could pursue other options, such as

³⁴⁵ Louw (note 24 above) 343.

³⁴⁶ Note 39 above.

³⁴⁷ S v Makwanyane and Another (note 116 above) para 26.

³⁴⁸ Louw (note 24 above) 343.

³⁴⁹ See section 2.3 in Chapter 2.

³⁵⁰ See Louw (note 24 above) 338.

furthering the education and skills of people from previously disadvantaged groups,³⁵¹ rather than making people from non-designated groups a means to an end in the affirmative action equation.

To that effect the provisions on affirmative action in terms of the EEA should be amended and the EEAA's provisions for representivity should be repealed. Section 2 which is the aim of the EEA contradicts section 9 of the Constitution. The constitutional standard of 'equality' should be maintained at all cost. Section 2 of the EEA brings in a new requirement of 'equitable representation' and which results in the implementation of quotas. To solve this issue, the aim of the EEA has to be brought in line with the standard set in section 9 of the Constitution. The definition of affirmative action measures in terms of both the EEA and the EEAA has to be amended to conform to the definition of affirmative action measures provided for in terms of the Constitution.

In terms of future research, the study could be a starting point for questions about demographic representivity as it affects other areas of government policy such as the Black Economic Empowerment policy (BEE) which is empowered by the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act (BEEA).³⁵² These important questions could raise public awareness of the misconception that affirmative action is a right. The members of society are only entitled to the right to be treated equally and affirmative action can be seen as a privilege which no one has a right to claim.³⁵³

As Dr Mamphela Ramphele has written:

"Society has a responsibility to create an equitable framework but successful performance under such conditions is the responsibility of individuals. The right to equal opportunities does not mean the right to successful outcomes." 354

³⁵¹ Cohen and Moodley (note 41 above) 325.

³⁵² Act 53 of 2003.

³⁵³ M McGregor "Affirmative action – a defence or a right? (2003) 11 SA Merc LJ 164, 167.

³⁵⁴ Tony Leon, "Stand up for change!" DA Voter Registration Rally Westville Civic Centre, Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, 06 November, 2003.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Text books

Connolly, M & Townshend-Smith, R *Discrimination Law: Text, Cases and Materials* 1 ed London: Routledge-Cavendish, (1998).

Currie, I & De Waal, J The Bill of Rights Handbook 6 ed Cape Town: Juta, (2013).

Du Toit, D et al. *Labour Relations Law: A Comprehensive Guide* 6 ed Durban: LexisNexis, (2006).

Fredman, S Discrimination Law 1 ed Oxford: Oxford University Press, (2001).

Grogan, J *Dismissal*, *Discrimination and Unfair Labour Practices* 1st ed Cape Town: Juta, (2005).

Pretorius, JL & Klinck, ME & Ngwena, CG *Employment Equity Law* Durban: LexisNexis, (2012).

The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language 4 ed Boston: Houghton Mifflin, (2000).

Journal articles

Bray, E "Macro issues of Mikro Primary School" (2007) 10 (1) PELJ 1, 17.

Cohen, T and Moodley L "Achieving Decent Work in South Africa?" (2012) 15 (2) PER 320.

Cowen, S "Can 'Dignity' Guide South Africa's 'equality' Jurisprudence?" (2001) 17 SAJHR 34, 51.

Dupper, O "Affirmative Action: Who, How and How Long?" (2008) 24 SAJHR 1.

Dupper, O "In Defence of Affirmative Action in South Africa" (2004) 121 SALJ 207.

Kentridge, O "Telling the Truth about Law" (1982) 99 SALJ 648.

Louw, A.M "Extrapolating "equality" from the Letter of the Law: Some Thoughts on the Limits of Affirmative Action under the Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998" (2006) 18 SAMLJ 336.

Louw, A.M "Should the playing field be levelled? Revisiting affirmative action in professional sport" (2004) 15 (3) *Stellenbosch LR* 409, 419.

Malan, K "Observations on representivity, democracy and homogenisation" (2010) 3 TSAR 427.

Manyathi, N "Transformation debate continues at BLA AGM" (2012) 526 De Rebus 10.

McGregor, M "Affirmative action – a defence or a right? (2003) 11 SA Merc LJ 164.

McGregor, M "Blowing the whistle?: the future of affirmative action in South Africa (part 1)" (2014) 6 SAMLJ 60.

McGregor, M "Judicial notice: Discrimination and disadvantage in the context of affirmative action in South African workplaces" (2011) 44 (1) *De Jure* 111.

Meyerson, D 'How Useful is the Concept of Racial Discrimination?' (1993) 110 SALJ 575, 579.

Mokgoro, Y "Judicial appointments" (2010) 23 (3) Advocate 44.

Pretorius, JL "Fairness in transformation: A critique of the Constitutional Court's affirmative action jurisprudence" (2010) 26 SAJHR 536.

Sidaki, T "Building a transformed judiciary in post-apartheid South Africa: prospects and challenges" (2012) 25(1) *Advocate* 25.

Venter, F "The limitations of restitutionary 'equality'" (2004) 7 (1) PELJ 1.

Table of statutes

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003.

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa Act 108 of 1996.

Employment Equity Act 55 of 1998.

Employment Equity Amendment Act 47 of 2013.

Employment Equity Regulations 2014.

The Code of Good Practice: Preparation, Implementation, and Monitoring of Employment Equity Plans 1999.

Bills

Draft Employment Equity Regulations 2014.

Table of cases

South African cases

Bato Star Fishing (Pty) Ltd v Minister of Environmental Affairs & others 2004 (4) SA 490 (CC).

Chinese Association of South Africa v The Minister of Labour (NDP) unreported case number 59251/2007 (18 June 2008).

Coetzee v Department of Education Western Cape (NDP) unreported case No PSES 221-08/09WC (14 April 2009).

Coetzer v Minister of Safety and Security (2003) 24 ILJ 163 (LC)

CUSA v Tao Ying Metal Industries and Others 2009 (2) SA 204 (CC).

Du Preez v Minister of Justice & Constitutional Development & others (2006) 27 ILJ 1811 (SE).

Fourie v South African Police Service (2004) 25 ILJ 1716 (LC).

Harksen v Lane NO and Others 1998 (1) SA 300 (CC).

Minister of Finance and another v Van Heerden 2004 (6) SA 121 (CC) para 41.

Motala and Another v University of Natal 1995 (3) BCLR 374 (D).

Munsamy v Minister of Safety and Security (2013) 7 BLLR 695 (LC).

Naidoo v Minister of Safety and Security and Another 2013 (3) SA 486 (LC).

President of the Republic of South Africa and Another v Hugo 1997 (6) BCLR 708 (CC).

Prinsloo v Van der Linde and Another 1997 (3) SA 1012 (CC).

Public Servants Association of South Africa and Others v Minister of Justice and Others 1997 (3) SA 925 (T).

S v Dodo 2001 (3) SA 382 (CC).

S v Makwanyane and Another 1995 (3) SA 391 (CC).

Shoprite Checkers (Pty) v Rainbow NO & Others (2000) 3 BLLR 243 (LAC).

Singh v The Minister of Justice and Constitutional Development and Others 2013 (3) SA 66 (EC).

Solidarity and Others v Department of Correctional Services and Others (2012) 11 BLLR 1163 (LC).

Solidarity obo Barnard v South African Police Service 2014 (2) SA 1 (SCA) para 58.

South African Police Service v Solidarity obo Barnard 2014 (6) SA 123 (CC) para 201.

Stoman v Minister of Safety & Security & others (2002) 23 ILJ 1020 (T) para 482.

Foreign cases

Council of Civil Service Unions v Minister for the Civil Service (1985) AC.

Newspaper Reports

Van Wyk, J "New employment equity targets create uncertainty" Cape Times 27 March 2014, at 16.

Speeches

Leon, T "Stand up for change!" DA Voter Registration Rally Westville Civic Centre: Durban, KwaZulu-Natal, 06 November 2003.

Oliphant, M Speech on the Employment Equity Amendment Bill to the National Council of Provinces: Cape Town, 21 November 2013.

Internet Sources

"Affirmative Action and the New Constitution" ANC Online, 15 April 1994 available at http://www.anc.org.za/show.php?id=283, accessed on 03 February 2015.

"Xhosa policy discriminatory: Union" SABC Online, 27 August 2014 available at http://www.sabc.co.za/news/a/cb75d28045416780b060b1a5ad025b24/Xhosa-policy-discriminatory:-Union-20142708, accessed on 24 October 2014.

Conradie B "Employment Equity Act amendments -The detail behind the politics" Moneyweb, 23 March 2011 available at http://www.moneyweb.co.za/moneyweb-soapbox/employment-equity-act-amendments--the-detail-behin?sn=2009+Detail, accessed on 26 October 2014.

Ramutloa L "RE: Chinese Association of South Africa" Department of Labour 24 June 2008, available at http://www.labour.gov.za/DOL/media-desk/media-statements/2008/re-chinese-association-of-south-africa, accessed on 5 March 2015.